
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents firstPutting our residents first

Putting our residents first

Cabinet
Date: THURSDAY, 15 

NOVEMBER 2018

Time: 7.00 PM

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Media are welcome to attend 
this meeting and observe the 
public business discussed.

This meeting will also be 
broadcast live on the 
Council’s YouTube Channel.

To all Members of the Cabinet:

Ray Puddifoot MBE (Chairman)
Leader of the Council

David Simmonds CBE (Vice-Chairman)
Deputy Leader / Education & Children’s Services

Jonathan Bianco
Finance, Property & Business Services

Keith Burrows
Planning, Transportation & Recycling

Philip Corthorne
Social Services, Housing, Health & Wellbeing

Douglas Mills
Community, Commerce & Regeneration

Richard Lewis
Central Services, Culture & Heritage

Published: 
Wednesday, 7 November 2018

You can view the agenda 
at www.hillingdon.gov.uk or use a smart 
phone camera and scan the code below:

Contact:
Mark Braddock
Tel: 01895 250470
Email: mbraddock@hillingdon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors
Watching & recording this meeting

You can watch the public part of this meeting on 
the Council's YouTube channel, live or archived 
after the meeting. Residents and the media are 
also welcome to attend in person, and if they 
wish, report on the public part of the meeting. 
Any individual or organisation may record or film 
proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. 

It is recommended to give advance notice of filming to ensure any particular requirements can be 
met. The Council will provide seating areas for residents/public, high speed WiFi access to all 
attending and an area for the media to report. The officer shown on the front of this agenda should 
be contacted for further information and will be available to assist.

When present in the room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices.

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. 

Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be asked to sign-in and then 
directed to the Committee Room. 

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use. 

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous 
alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre 
forecourt. 

Lifts must not be used unless instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. In the event of 
a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire Marshal or a Security 
Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their way to the signed refuge 
locations.



Notice
Notice of meeting and any private business

The London Borough of Hillingdon is a modern, transparent Council and through effective Cabinet 
governance, it seeks to ensure the decisions it takes are done so in public as far as possible. Much 
of the business on the agenda for this Cabinet meeting will be open to residents, the wider public 
and media to attend. However, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for 
example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. Such business is shown in 
Part 2 of the agenda and is considered in private. Further information on why this is the case can 
be sought from Democratic Services.

This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 to confirm that the Cabinet meeting to be held on:

15 November 2018 at 7pm in Committee Room 6, Civic Centre, Uxbridge

will be held partly in private and that 28 clear days public notice of this meeting has been given. 
The reason for this is because the private (Part 2) reports listed on the agenda for the meeting will 
contain either confidential information or exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. An online and a hard copy 
notice at the Civic Centre in Uxbridge indicates a number associated with each report with the 
reason why a particular decision will be taken in private under the categories set out below:

(1) information relating to any individual
(2) information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
(3) information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 

the authority holding that information)
(4) information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 

negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or 
a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.

(5) Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings.

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  (a) to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or (b) to make an 
order or direction under any enactment.

(7) Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime.

Notice of any urgent business

To ensure greater transparency in decision-making, 28 clear days public notice of the decisions to 
be made both in public and private has been given for these agenda items. Any exceptions to this 
rule are the urgent business items on the agenda marked *. For such items it was impracticable to 
give sufficient notice for a variety of business and service reasons. The Chairman of the Executive 
Scrutiny Committee has been notified in writing about such urgent business.

Notice of any representations received
No representations from the public have been received regarding this meeting.

Date notice issued and of agenda publication

7 November 2018
London Borough of Hillingdon



Agenda

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interest in matters before this meeting

3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting 1 - 12

4 To confirm that the items of business marked Part 1 will be 
considered in public and that the items of business marked Part 2 in 
private

Cabinet Reports - Part 1 (Public)

5 Older People's Plan Update                                                                
(Cllr Ray Puddifoot MBE & Cllr Philip Corthorne)

13 - 32

6 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report: Month 6                          
(Cllr Ray Puddifoot MBE & Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

33 - 82



Cabinet Reports - Part 2 (Private and Not for Publication)

7 Contract Extension: The Replacement of Gas Boilers and System 
Upgrades in Residential Dwellings in the Housing Stock                 
(Cllr Jonathan Bianco) *

83 - 86

8 Award of Contract: Playground Refurbishment Programme                    
(Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

87 - 102

9 Disposal of land at 19-22 Chippendale Waye, Uxbridge                         
(Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

103 - 108

10 Voluntary Sector Leases (Cllr Jonathan Bianco) 109 - 116

The reports listed above in Part 2 are not made public because they contains exempt 
information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing it.

11 Any other items the Chairman agrees are relevant or urgent

*denotes urgent business



This page is intentionally left blank



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 1 -

Minutes / Decisions

Cabinet
Thursday, 25 October 2018
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge

Published on: 26 October 2018
Decisions come into effect from: 2 November 2018

Cabinet Members Present: 
Ray Puddifoot MBE
David Simmonds CBE
Philip Corthorne
Jonathan Bianco
Douglas Mills
Richard Lewis
Susan O'Brien (Ex-Officio Member of the Cabinet)

Members also Present:
Henry Higgins
John Riley
Wayne Bridges
Edward Lavery
Simon Arnold
Jane Palmer
Peter Curling
Peter Money
John Morse
Stuart Mathers

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Councillor Keith Burrows.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS BEFORE THIS MEETING

No interests were declared by Members present.

3. TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST CABINET MEETING

The decisions and minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 27 September 2018 were 
agreed as a correct record.

4. TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED 
PART 2 IN PRIVATE

This was confirmed.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 2 -

5. LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD: ANNUAL REPORT

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet note the content of the Annual Report and work of the Local 
Safeguarding Children Board during 2017/18.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet noted the positive annual report, which was a statutory requirement, along 
with the recent OFSTED inspection results which had rated Hillingdon good, with 
outstanding features in leadership. Cabinet also considered the comments of the 
Policy Overview Committee who had considered the performance of the Board over 
the last year. The Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services pointed 
out the broad involvement by Elected Members as corporate parents. He also 
informed Cabinet that the Board would be superseded by new local arrangements in 
the coming year and that work was required to ensure all partners, particularly the 
Police, contribute financially to local safeguarding arrangements.

Alternatives considered and rejected

None.

Officers to action:

Stephen Ashely (Independent Chairman, LSCB)
Andrea Nixon, Social Care
Tony Zaman, Social Care

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

6. SAFEGUARDING ADULTS PARTNERSHIP BOARD: ANNUAL REPORT

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet note the Annual Report and work of the Safeguarding Adults 
Partnership Board during 2017/18.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet noted the annual report, a statutory requirement and expressed the 
Council's commitment to the safeguarding of adults and older people. Cabinet also 
considered the comments of the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy 
Overview Committee that had reviewed the Board’s performance and endorsed 
priorities for action in the ensuing year, including on modern slavery, domestic 
abuse, adult grooming and financial abuse. 

Page 2



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 3 -

The Cabinet Member for Social Care, Housing, Health & Wellbeing indicated that a 
review of the Board was timely and could mirror changes to that being made to the 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. He also echoed previous concerns about the 
contribution partner organisations make to the important work to safeguard our most 
vulnerable adults in the Borough.

Alternatives considered and rejected

None.

Officers to action:

Stephen Ashely (Independent Chairman, LSCB)
Andrea Nixon, Social Care
Tony Zaman, Social Care

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

7. MONTHLY COUNCIL BUDGET MONITORING REPORT: MONTH 5

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:

1. Note the budget position as at August 2018 (Month 5) as outlined in Table 
1.

2. Note the Treasury Management update as at August 2018 at Appendix E.
3. Continue the delegated authority up until the October 2018 Cabinet meeting 

to the Chief Executive to approve any consultancy and agency 
assignments over £50k, with final sign-off of any assignments made by the 
Leader of the Council. Cabinet are also asked to note those consultancy 
and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated authority 
between the 27th September and 25th October 2018 Cabinet meetings, 
detailed at Appendix F.

4. Agrees to set aside £41k from the development and risk contingency for 
2018/19 towards a new six months temporary role for a Community Safety 
Partnership Manager at POF grade.

5. Agrees to set aside £14k from the development and risk contingency in 
2018/19 for the creation of a new FOI and SARS post as a result of the 
requirements of the recent General Data Protection Regulation legislation 
2018. 

6. Approve acceptance of gift funding of up to £90k in relation to a Planning 
Performance Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 93 of 
the Local Government Act 2003 for the major development of the Old Vinyl 
Factory, Blyth Road, Hayes.

7. Agrees to amend the current flat rate charge for Homecare of £14.40/hr to 
the actual cost of care incurred by the Council with effect from 31st 
December 2018.

Page 3



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 4 -

Reasons for decision
 
Cabinet was informed of the latest Month 5 forecast revenue, capital and treasury 
position for the current year 2018/19 to ensure the Council achieved its budgetary 
and service objectives. Cabinet also made a number of decisions, including:

 Setting aside funding for a temporary community safety partnership manager, 
which would play a critical role in developing stronger relationships with the 
Police and London Fire Brigade;

 Acceptance of further funding to advise on the development of the Old Vinyl 
Factory site in Hayes;

 Approval of changes to the flat rate charge for Homecare in the Borough to 
meet the actual cost of the care incurred by the Council. In deciding this, 
Cabinet considered the reasons as set out in the report, along with the 
implications for current users.

Commenting on the Dedicated Schools Budget, Cabinet expressed its mounting 
concern at the increasing pressure on the budget which it felt the Schools Forum, 
overseeing the budget, had failed to tackle effectively. On the other hand, it was 
noted that local schools were in possession of a significant amount of reserves to 
more than cover the financial pressures currently being experienced. Whilst the 
Council had always stepped in to assist schools with financial problems, Cabinet 
wished for a clear message to be sent to the Schools Forum to fully grasp their 
responsibilities.

Alternative options considered and rejected
 
None.
 
Officer to action:
 
Paul Whaymand, Finance

Classification: Public
 
The report and any background papers relating to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view 
on the Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge.

8. AWARD OF CONTRACT: THE ROOFING REPAIRS SERVICE TO THE 
COUNCIL'S HOUSING PROPERTIES

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:
 

1. Agrees to accept the tender received from John McGuinness Roofing 
Contractors Limited for the roofing repairs service to Housing 
properties and;

Page 4



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 5 -

2. Agrees to the award of a contract to John McGuinness Roofing 
Contractors Limited to undertake these works in accordance with the 
Council's requirements, for a value of £1,600,000 over 3+1 years.  

Reasons for decision

Cabinet approved the roofing contract for Council housing properties, following a 
competitive tender. Cabinet noted that the contract would be for the repair of 
defective and leaking roofs, gutters and associated areas, which was essential to 
ensure an effective repairs and maintenance service to the residential housing stock. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to take no action to appoint a roofing maintenance 
contractor which would have led to delays and costly repairs to properties.

Officer to action:

Gary Penticost, Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

9. AWARD OF CONTRACT: THE HEATING, VENTILATION & AIR CONDITIONING 
MAINTENANCE SERVICE FOR THE CIVIC CENTRE AND OTHER CORPORATE 
BUILDINGS

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet approves the award of a contract to Honeywell Control 
Systems Limited to deliver the servicing and maintenance of Building 
Management Systems (BMS), heating, ventilation & air conditioning assets 
within the Civic Centre, Battle of Britain site and 33 other corporate buildings 
for 2 years with the possibility to extend by a further 1 year.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to appoint a single contractor to undertake the servicing and 
maintenance of Building Management Systems (BMS), heating, ventilation & air 
conditioning assets within the Civic Centre, Battle of Britain Bunker site and 33 other 
corporate properties.

Page 5



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 6 -

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to re-tender the works, but considered this would not 
provide maintenance continuity for unique and critically important sites.

Officers to action:

Perry Scott / Brian Colyer – Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

10. AWARD OF CONTRACT: THE CLEANING SERVICE FOR THE CIVIC CENTRE 
AND OTHER CORPORATE BUILDINGS

RESOLVED:

That the Cabinet approve the award of a contract to First Choice Facilities 
Services Limited to deliver the cleaning and portering provision at the 
Council’s Civic Centre and other corporate properties for 3 years with the 
possibility to extend by a further 2 years.

Reasons for decision

Following a competitive process, Cabinet accepted a tender for a comprehensive, 
efficient and cost effective cleaning and portering service to the Civic Centre and 77 
other public buildings and facilities across the Council's non-housing property 
portfolio.

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided to extend the current contract, but considered it 
advantageous to test the market in order to alleviate budgetary pressures and 
improve service delivery. 

Officer to action:

Bryan Colyer – Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 

Page 6



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 7 -

disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

11. AWARD OF CONTRACTS: SERVICE PROVISION FOR VICTIMS AND THOSE 
AFFECTED BY DOMESTIC ABUSE

RESOLVED:

1. Agree that the existing contract with the current service provider Hestia 
be extended from 31st October 2018 to 28th February 2019 for contract 
mobilisation at a cost of £89,867 to be funded from within the existing 
budget. 

2. Agree to the award of contracts from 1 March 2019 to the three 
providers as follows:

a) Refuge, for the provision of the Domestic Abuse (Crisis) Refuge, at a 
cost of £79,770 per annum, noting that this service is at a cost of 
£398,850 over the total five year period (for three (3) years, with 
provision for a plus one, plus one, extension if the Council is 
satisfied with the performance of the provider). 

b) Hestia Housing and Support, for the provision of the Domestic Abuse 
Floating Advocacy and Support Service, which costs £131,815 per 
annum, noting that this service is at a cost of £659,075 over the five 
year period (for three (3) years, with provision for a plus one, plus 
one, extension if the Council is satisfied with the performance of the 
provider). 

c) Richmond Fellowship, for the provision of Therapeutic and 
Counselling Support for Children and Young People who have been 
exposed to the harmful effects of domestic abuse and are in greater 
need of additional support, noting that this service costs £45,000 per 
annum and at a cost of £225,000 over the five year period (which is 
based on three (3) years contract with provision for a plus one, plus 
one, extension if the Council is satisfied with the performance of the 
provider). 

3. Approve that £43,000 funding be transferred from the Grants and 
Voluntary Sector Partnerships budget to the Community Safety budget 
from 1st March 2019, noting that a grant of £43,000 for 2018/19 was 
approved by Cabinet in December 2017 and that going forward this will 
fund the Richmond Fellowship contracted services, rather than Hestia 
Housing and Support.

4. Agree to decommission the Second Stage Step-Down Accommodation, 
which costs £45,000 annually, given that the support element of the 
service can be provided by the floating support service provider as a 
new arrangement.

Reasons for decision

Page 7



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 8 -

Cabinet welcomed a number of contract changes to further enhance the services 
that the Council has in place for effective support to women, men and children 
experiencing domestic abuse. It was noted that the savings generated from the new 
arrangements would go into an earmarked reserve for further domestic abuse 
services benefiting residents.

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet could have decided not to provide the wide range of support services 
previously undertaken and not decommission the second stage step-down service, 
but this was not agreed following a review of the services users’ needs, along with 
an equalities assessment.

Officer to action:

Jacqueline Robertson, Residents Services

Urgency provisions

As set out on the agenda for this meeting, this decision was taken under urgency provisions in 
accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

12. DISPOSAL OF FORMER GARAGE SITE: LAND BETWEEN 48 AND 50 MAPLE 
ROAD, YEADING, UB4 9LR

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:   

1. Declare the site and land between 48-50 Maple Road, Yeading surplus to 
requirements;

2. Authorise the disposal of the site at auction once planning permission 
is received for a residential development. 

3. Agree that the site be sold as a 125 year long leasehold with the 
freehold transferred upon completion of the development and;

4. Delegate authority to the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member 
for Finance, Property and Business Services, in consultation with the 

Page 8



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 9 -

Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents Services, 
all subsequent decisions regarding the sale of the site.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet declared the vacant Council garage site between 48 and 50 Maple Road, 
Yeading surplus to requirements and approved its disposal at auction with planning 
consent for a residential development. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet considered repairing the garages and whether the Council itself should 
develop the site, but these options were discounted in order to provide a capital 
receipt to benefit the wider capital investment programme for residents.

Officer to action:

Mike Paterson; Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

13. DISPOSAL OF 4 CHURCH ROAD, COWLEY, UB8 3NA

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet:   

1. Declare the site at 4 Church Road, Cowley surplus to requirements;

2. Authorise the disposal of the at auction once planning permission is 
given for residential development of up to 4 houses;

3. Agree that the site be sold as a 125 year long leasehold with the 
freehold transferred upon completion of the individual developments 
and;

4. Delegate authority to the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member 
for Finance, Property and Business Services, in consultation with the 
Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents Services, 
all subsequent decisions regarding the sale of the site.

Page 9



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 10 -

Reasons for decision

Cabinet declare the vacant Council property, 4 Church Road, Cowley surplus to 
requirements and approved its disposal at auction with planning consent for a 
residential development of up to 4 houses.

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet considered whether the Council itself should sell the site without planning 
permission or whether to develop the site, but these options were discounted in 
order to provide a capital receipt to support the Housing Revenue Account.

Officer to action:

Mike Paterson; Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

14. DISPOSAL OF 3 GARAGE SITES AT THE GLEBE, WEST DRAYTON

RESOLVED:

That Cabinet: 

1. Declare the three garage sites at 228-233 & 250-266 The Glebe, West 
Drayton, 1-37 The Glebe, West Drayton and 197- 209 The Glebe, West 
Drayton surplus to requirements.

2. Authorises the sale of the sites at auction with planning permission for 
residential use. 

3. Agrees that the sites be sold as long 125 year leaseholds with the 
freeholds transferred upon completion of the individual developments.

4. Delegates authority to the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Property and Business Services, in consultation 
with the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 
Services, all subsequent decisions regarding the sales of the sites.

Reasons for decision

Cabinet agreed to declare three vacant garage sites at The Glebe, West Drayton 
surplus to requirements and approved their disposal at auction with planning consent 
for residential development.

Page 10



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 11 -

Alternative options considered and rejected

Cabinet considered whether to repair the garages or develop them, but these 
options were discounted in order to provide a capital receipt to benefit the wider 
capital investment programme for residents.

Officer to action:

Mike Paterson; Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 
to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

15. VOLUNTARY SECTOR LEASES

RESOLVED:
 
That Cabinet agrees the rent set out in the report, which is subject to 
negotiation with the voluntary sector organisations detailed in the report and 
instructs the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 
Services to then commission the Borough Solicitor to complete the 
appropriate legal documentation.
 
Reasons for decision
 
Cabinet agreed a rent review of the site used by the Sandgate Football Club at 
Bourne Avenue Playing Fields, Hayes. Cabinet’s decision enabled the organisation 
concerned to benefit from heavily discounted rents as part of the Council's Voluntary 
Sector Leasing Policy and wider commitment to a vibrant local voluntary sector. The 
Leader of the Council noted the benefit of the significant rent reductions that the 
Council offered, in comparison to market prices, allowing local organisations to thrive 
in Hillingdon.
 
Alternative options considered and rejected
 
None.
 
Officer to action:
 
Mike Paterson, Residents Services

Classification: Private

Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made public, the officer report relating to this matter 
is not because it was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained information relating 

Page 11



_________________________________________________________________________

- Page 12 -

to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the public interest in 
disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

16. ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIRMAN AGREES ARE RELEVANT OR URGENT

No additional items were considered by the Cabinet.
 
The meeting closed at 7:28pm.

 
Internal Use only - implementation of decisions
 
When the Cabinet’s decisions come into effect

Meeting after Cabinet, the Executive Scrutiny Committee did not call-in any of the 
remaining Cabinet decisions. Therefore, these decisions can be implemented by 
officers upon the expiry of the scrutiny call-in period date below:

from 5pm, Friday 2 November 2018
 
Officers to action the decisions are indicated in the minutes. 

The minutes are the official notice for any subsequent internal process approvals 
required by officers to action the Cabinet’s decisions.
 
 
The public part of this meeting was broadcast on the Council’s YouTube channel 
here. Please note that these minutes and decisions are the definitive record of 
proceedings by the Council of this meeting.

If you would like further information about the decisions of the Cabinet, please 
contact the Council below:

democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk
Democratic Services: 01895 250636
Media enquiries: 01895 250403
 
To find out more about how the Cabinet works to put residents first, visit here.

Page 12

https://www.youtube.com/user/HillingdonLondon
mailto:democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk
http://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=115


Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

OLDER PEOPLE'S PLAN UPDATE

Cabinet Member(s) Councillor Ray Puddifoot MBE
Councillor Philip Corthorne

Cabinet Portfolio(s) Leader of the Council
Social Services, Housing, Health & Wellbeing

Officer Contact(s) Kevin Byrne, Residents Services

Papers with report Appendix A - Plan update 

HEADLINES

Summary To provide an update on the progress in delivering the actions in 
the plan for older people.

Contribution to our 
plans and strategies

The Older People’s Plan assists the Council to deliver its plans to 
put residents first.  Supporting older people to live independent, 
active, healthy lives and providing opportunities to improve well-
being is key to Hillingdon's Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Financial Cost There are no additional cost implications for the Council in respect 
of this report.  The projects detailed in this report are financed from 
within existing resources across the Council including the Leader’s 
Initiative for Older People Fund.

Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee

Social Care, Housing and Public Health

Ward(s) affected All

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Cabinet notes the successes to date and continued progress to deliver the Older 
People’s Action Plan during 2018-19 to improve the quality of life, health and wellbeing of 
older people in Hillingdon.

Reasons for recommendation

The Older People’s Plan endorses the commitment from the Council and its partners to the 
continued improvement of services and support designed to create a better quality of life for 
older people in Hillingdon. The plan supports the Council to put residents first and contributes to 
improving the health and wellbeing of Hillingdon’s older residents.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Alternative options considered / risk management

None considered.

Policy Overview Committee comments

None at this stage.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Supporting older people to live independent, active lives, to make a positive contribution to local 
communities and helping older people to feel safer in their homes and in the wider community 
and contributes directly to the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

In Hillingdon there are well-established arrangements to hear from older people and keep 
Hillingdon’s older residents informed and involved across the Borough on important matters.  
This includes their involvement through Hillingdon’s Older People’s Assembly.
 
Hillingdon’s Older People’s Plan, led by the Older People’s Champion (Cllr Ray Puddifoot MBE, 
Leader of the Council) sets out a range of actions that the Council and its partners are 
undertaking in response to issues that older people in Hillingdon have said are important to 
them. The key themes in the plan remain: safety and security; preventative care; keeping 
independent and healthy; supporting older people in the community; and housing.  The action 
plan is regularly updated and monitored by the Older People’s Champion.

There have been a number of achievements during 2018-19. Several are highlighted in the 
summary below, with a fuller update attached at Appendix A.  This includes service 
improvements supported by the Leader’s Initiative developed within the community, with 
partners and across Council services to enable older people to remain independent, active and 
healthy. 

Safety and Security

Free burglar alarms 

The Free Burglar Alarm scheme started in 2008/9 and is funded by the Leader’s Initiative for 
Older People and has fitted over 9,500 alarms to the homes of older residents across 
Hillingdon. The scheme is currently in Phase 11 which will see a further 1,000 alarms installed 
to provide increased security and peace of mind for older residents. The scheme includes 
special systems designed to help people with hearing impediments. A free initial service of the 
system is offered to residents after 18 months of operation.   

Satisfaction with the scheme remains high. Older people say they are happy with the alarm, feel 
safer in their own home and are less scared of being burgled. 

A tender exercise is in progress to award a new contract to continue the Council’s popular 
scheme.  A report will be brought to Cabinet in December. 

Page 14



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Trading Standards investigations

Between July and September, Trading Standards has seen a significant increase in the number 
of reported rogue trader incidents, with 15 reports received. A common pattern is a trader cold 
calling on an individual offering to clean guttering. Having gone onto the roof, allegedly to clean 
guttering, the trader claims that expensive repairs to the roof are required. Officers are making 
ongoing enquiries to establish the true identities of these traders.

Preventative Care

Telecareline

The Council’s Telecareline uses technology to enable older people to continue to live 
independently in their own homes, with the comfort and security of knowing that help is at hand 
if necessary.  

Telecareline is now available free of charge to people aged over 75. More than 5000 people 
over 75 now benefit from the Telecareline service.  More than 80% use the level 1 service with 
the standard equipment installed, which can trigger an alert and get help, either from nominated 
relatives, friends or neighbours, or through the Council’s mobile response service.  

Dementia

Hillingdon is now a Dementia Friendly Community.  The work achieved in Hillingdon libraries 
around early support to residents living with dementia was recognised at the national 
Alzheimer’s Society Conference in May 2018.  There has been extensive work done in the past 
few months with INTU and Pavilions shopping centres and the focus of some of the work for 
2018/19 will be to promote dementia friendly shopping.  A lot of work has also been carried out 
to promote dementia-friendly access to arts and culture including a trip for residents living with 
dementia to the new Bunker museum, dementia-friendly movie screenings in libraries, dementia 
art exhibitions and dementia-friendly activities being included in Culture Bite for 2018.  

‘Magic Tables’

Hillingdon is the first authority in the UK to introduce the innovative ‘Tovertafel’ magic table 
technology to help people living with dementia.  The system projects animations onto table 
surfaces and allows users to interact with the light and images by moving their arms and hands, 
providing physical, mental and social stimulation for people with dementia. The Council has now 
installed magic tables in Uxbridge Botwell, Northwood Hills and Ruislip Manor libraries, with 
further tables due to be installed within the new extra care schemes.
 
Following the success of the Tovertafel initiative in Hillingdon, officers were invited to the Dutch 
Embassy to describe how Hillingdon had adopted and implemented the Tovertafel into local 
libraries.  Following this presentation, the Tovertafel team from the Netherlands and UK have 
expressed interest in learning more about the Hillingdon approach and in piloting the Tovertafel 
for children and young people with autism. 

Page 15



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Housing

Through the “Home Release Reward” scheme, the London Borough of Hillingdon assists 
tenants to downsize to a smaller, more suitable and affordable home, giving a financial incentive 
to assist with the costs associated with moving and setting up a new home. These payments 
will be; £1,500 for those downsizing by one bedroom; £2,500 for those downsizing by two 
bedrooms; £ 4,500 for those downsizing by three bedrooms or more. Pensioners are also 
entitled to up to five years free contents insurance.

The Council also recognises that moving home, particularly from larger to smaller 
accommodation, can present a number of practical issues and problems. A dedicated housing 
officer is available to work with tenants to identify and implement measures to support moving to 
a more suitable accommodation. 

In the period April 2018 to October 2018, 26 tenants successfully downsized to more affordable 
and suitable accommodation.

The Council’s allocations policy awards a high priority band on our choice based lettings 
scheme, Locata, to under occupiers. As at October 2018, there are 177 tenants registered on 
Locata to downsize.

Grassy Meadow Court is now open with the expectation that 40 flats will be occupied by 
Christmas.  The Dementia Resource Centre is also operational.  There is close working with GP 
practices and new residents receive information on registering with a GP practice.

Park View Court is now scheduled for handover at the end of February 2019 and with first 
tenants likely to move in at the beginning of March. 

A pilot to install electric mobility scooter storage at Mandela Court has been completed. This 
provides charging points for up to 8 scooters. All 21 sheltered housing schemes have been 
surveyed to review scooter storage provision. Five already have sufficient capacity. 
Requirements and costings are being prepared for consideration of additional storage at the 
remaining 15 schemes.

Keeping Independent and Healthy

Activities and events

The Leader’s Initiative for Older People continues to provide funding to enable groups and 
organisations to provide celebratory events for older people. In the period from April to October 
2018 funding has been provided for 28 separate events including summer and Christmas 
parties, lunches and excursions.

The Sport and Physical Activity Team has provided three Wellbeing days for more than 150 
older people living with dementia and their carers.  The following trips took place:  A visit to the 
new Bunker museum (May), a trip to Brighton (July) and participation in the Day of the Older 
Person in the Pavilions (September).The events have offered history and reminiscence, 

Page 16



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

entertainment, a trip to the seaside, chair-based exercises, group singing, art activities, food 
and refreshments and information and advice.    

Tea dances remain very popular. There were more than 2000 attendances at tea dances and 
‘Desi’ Bhangra style dances in the first six months of 2018/19, held in the Civic Centre, Winston 
Churchill Hall, Yiewsley & West Drayton Community Centre and Botwell Leisure Centre.

Free swimming and free swimming lessons for over 65's 

Free swimming and free swimming lessons for older people lessons continue to be extremely 
popular. Lessons take place at the three main pool facilities on a termly basis. Botwell offer 4 
classes per week with 3 of the 4 classes at full capacity. Hillingdon Sports and Leisure Centre 
offers 2 classes per week with both classes at full capacity.  Highgrove Pool offers 4 classes per 
week with 2 at full capacity.

Extending the Brown Badge Parking Scheme 

The Brown Badge Parking Scheme offers older people a designated place to park their car / 
vehicle which means older people are closer to amenities.  This can help to maintain their 
independence and encourages older people to get out and about to reduce the risk of social 
isolation. 

The Brown Badge Older Person's parking scheme continues to be popular and, in the 6 months 
to October 2018, a total of 1,077 new Brown Badges were issued to our older residents.  This 
represents an increase in applications of 5.4% over the same period in 2017.  At the start of 
October 2018, there was a total of 12,202 active Brown Badge users. 

Supporting Older People in the Community

Financial support for older people 

Age UK Hillingdon continues to provide successful Financial Health Checks to help generate 
additional income for older people. During the first six months of 2018/19 a total of £921,810 in 
additional income was generated for older residents. Additional amounts may be generated as 
DWP continues to deal with claims.  The extra income helps radically improve the quality of life 
of older residents and injects new money into the local economy.

Heater Loans scheme 

The Council continues to provide a heater loan to residents aged over 65 whose heating is not 
working. In addition, once the heater is returned, the Council pays a one-off small grant to 
people to ensure they are not discouraged from using the heater by the cost of electricity.  The 
Council has 87 heaters in stock to ensure that the scheme is ready to operate once cold 
weather returns.

Page 17



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Financial Implications

There are no additional cost implications for the Council in respect of this report.  The projects 
detailed in this report are financed from within existing resources across the Council including 
the 'Leader’s Initiative' Fund. 

RESIDENT BENEFIT & CONSULTATION

The benefit or impact upon residents, service users and communities?

The Older People’s Plan is welcomed by older residents as positively continuing to raise their 
value and profile and is an opportunity to improve the lives of older people in the community.

Consultation carried out or required

Regular feedback from the Hillingdon Older People’s Assembly Steering Group and Older 
People’s Assembly is used to help shape future priorities.  The Older People’s Assembly in 
Hillingdon periodically receives progress updates on delivering the promises set out within the 
Older People’s Plan.

CORPORATE CONSIDERATIONS

Corporate Finance

Corporate Finance has reviewed this report and the associated financial implications, noting 
that the broad range of initiatives outlined above are fully funded within the existing budgets - 
including the Leader's Initiative for Older People. 

Legal

Before the Cabinet is a progress update report on the delivery of Hillingdon’s Older People's 
Plan for 2018/19. Under the Council’s Constitution, the Cabinet has the appropriate powers to 
agree the recommendation proposed at the outset of this report. There are no legal issues 
arising out of the recommendation proposed at the outset of this report.  

BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Older People’s Plan
 Previous Action Plan updates to Cabinet

Page 18



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

Appendix A
Older People’s Action Plan 2018/19, Q2 Update – November 2018

Ref 
No

Task Actions Lead Target 
Dates

Progress Update

1.  Safety and Security
1.1 Increase home 

security amongst 
older people.

1.1.1 Ensure the 
free burglar alarms 
scheme is 
delivered and that a 
free service is 
offered after 18
months. (Phase 11 
installations & 
Phase 10 
servicing)

John 
Wheatley

31.03.19 Ongoing – To help older people feel safe and secure, free 
burglar alarms have been installed into the homes of older 
people aged over 65.

At the end of September 2018, 553 alarms had been installed in 
Phase 11, leaving a further 447 to be installed in older residents’ 
homes.

A further 1000 alarms were serviced in Phase 9 during 2017/18.  
To date, 298 residents have had their alarm systems checked and 
batteries replaced in Phase 10, with a further 702 to be carried out 
once the alarm has been in place for 18 months.   

1.2 Take action to 
tackle rogue 
traders.

1.2.1 Address 
reports of Rogue 
Traders including 
raising awareness.

Martin 
King

31.03.19 Ongoing - Trading Standards Officers continue to respond quickly 
to reports of rogue traders.  When complaints are received officers 
review the circumstances of each case and decide if an 
intervention is required. 

Trading Standards continue to visit victims to help avoid repeat 
incidents. Where appropriate, Trading Standards will liaise with the 
council's Adult Safeguarding Team to ensure that residents receive 
help and support.

We have established new links with Hillingdon Neighbourhood 
Watch and are now able to put out messages through the OWL e-
mail system (Online Watch Link) alerting watch members of 
suspected rogue traders.

traders. 

P
age 19



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

2.  Preventative Care
2.1 Assist vulnerable 

people to secure 
and maintain their 
independence

2.1.1 Continue to 
deliver the 
TeleCareLine 
service

Louise 
Forster

31.03.19 Ongoing - The TeleCareLine service supports residents to live 
safely and independently in their own homes using a range of 
equipment, such as sensors and detectors all connected back to a 
local staffed control centre to provide assistance to older people if 
needed. In April 2014 the service was made free to people aged 
80 years or older. The scheme is now available free to those aged 
over 75.

As at 30 September 2018, 5,382 residents aged over 75 years 
were in receipt of TeleCareLine services. More than 80% of older 
residents receive the Level 1 or Level 2 service, which offers a 
standard equipment installation package, with either named 
responders such as family, friends or neighbours, or the Council’s 
mobile response service.  

P
age 20



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

3.  Keeping Independent and Healthy (Health and Wellbeing)
3.2 Provide 

opportunities for 
older people to 
participate in 
sport and 
physical activity.

3.2.1 Work with a 
range of partners to 
deliver and 
promote take-up of 
physical activity as 
part of Hillingdon’s 
Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy

Priscilla 
Simpson

31.03.19 Ongoing

Mature Exercise Programme (MOVES)
Based on increasing resident demand the chair based exercises 
for the over 65's is now offered across 18 sessions weekly in 8 
libraries and 2 community venues.  

A total of 6480 visits to sessions took place in the first 6 months of 
2018/19.

Total  = 819 residents

P
age 21



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

3.2.2 Continue to 
offer free swimming 
sessions to 
residents aged 65+

Nicky 
McDermott

31.03.19 Ongoing – The programme for older people to take up free 
swimming continues to be popular.

3.2.3 Deliver free 
swimming lessons 
for people aged 
65+

Nicky 
McDermott

31.03.19 Ongoing – Free swimming lessons in Hillingdon commenced 
from April 2014 and continue to be popular.

Lessons take place at the three main pool facilities on a termly 
basis. Attendance has remained stable across the pools. A total 
of 10 classes of 30 minutes per lesson are offered each week at 
the 3 centres. 7 are at full capacity.

3.2.4 Hold regular 
tea dances and 
other dances for 
older people to 
promote 
participation in 
physical activity.

Priscilla 
Simpson

31.03.19 Ongoing

Tea Dances remain popular and provide enjoyment, an 
opportunity to make friends, be active, and to have something 
to look forward to.  There are 5 dances held across 4 venues.  

Attendance figures up to October 2018:

978 - Civic Centre Tea Dance
432 -  Winston Churchill Hall Tea Dance
672 -  Yiewsley West Drayton Community Centre Tea and Line 
Dances
156 -  Botwell Leisure Centre ‘Desi’ (Bollywood/Bhangra style) 
dance

Total = 2238 attendances.

P
age 22



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

3.2.5 - To better 
enable residents 
living with 
dementia to 
continue to live 
independently in 
our community and 
feel supported and 
knowledgeable of 
where they can 
access advice and 
help when 
required.

Priscilla 
Simpson

31.03.19 Ongoing -This project to support residents with dementia is 
developing well in partnership with the Alzheimer's Society

Tovertafel

All four Tovertafel’s have been in place since May 2018.  They 
are now present in Uxbridge, Botwell, Ruilsip Manor and 
Northwood hills libraries.  They are being used regularly by the 
attendees of the dementia coffee mornings as well as a range of 
other groups including: Care homes, supported housing, DASH, 
Mencap and special schools.  They are being promoted through 
a variety of methods including special sessions being offered 
through Culture Bite to families with a loved one living with 
dementia.

Events to support older people
Three Wellbeing days for older people living with dementia and 
their carer's.  The events have offered history and reminiscence, 
entertainment, a trip to the sea-side, chair-based exercises, 
group singing, art activities, food and refreshments and 
information and advice.  The following trips took place:  A visit to 
the new Bunker museum (May), a trip to Brighton (July) and 
participation in the Day of the Older Person in the Pavilions 
(September).  Total participation:  over 150 people living or 
supporting someone living with dementia.  

P
age 23



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

Dementia Action Alliance:

Hillingdon is now a Dementia Friendly Community.  The work 
achieved in Hillingdon libraries around early support to residents 
living with dementia was recognised at the national Alzheimer 
Society Conference in May 2018.  There has been extensive 
work done in the past few months with INTU and Pavilions 
shopping centres and the focus of some of the work for 2018/19 
will be to promote dementia friendly shopping.  A lot of work has 
been undertaken to promote dementia friendly access to arts 
and culture through a trip for residents living with dementia to 
the new Bunker museum, as well as dementia friendly movie 
screenings in libraries, dementia art exhibitions and dementia 
friendly activities being included in Culture Bite for 2018.  The 
current number of DAA members in Hillingdon is 33 
organisations.

Dementia Coffee Mornings:  

Since April 2018, four new dementia coffee mornings have 
opened in Hillingdon libraries.  Northwood Hills has been 
running since May '18 with an average of 6-8 people attending 
weekly; Ruislip Manor started in July'18 with an average of 6 
people attending;  and Yiewsley and Harlington are due to start 
in October 2018.  This means there are now 6 available coffee 
mornings across the Borough offering regular support and social 
interaction to residents in the early to mid-stages of dementia.  
Overall, across the 6 groups up to 70 residents use the coffee 
mornings regularly.  
Residents have described the coffee mornings as being a 
lifeline allowing them to meet other people locally who are 
experiencing living with dementia.  They like being in the library 
which keeps the groups feeling social and fun.

Dementia Friends:  

Since April 2018 there have been a total of 284 new dementia 
friends trained.  The current total number of dementia friends in 
Hillingdon is:  8293 out of which 561 are LBH staff.  

Dementia Healthy Walk:  

The dementia friendly walks continue on a monthly basis.  

P
age 24



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

3.3 Continue to 
develop and 
expand the 
Brown Badge 
Parking Scheme 
for older people.

3.3.1 Continue to 
deliver the Brown 
Badge older 
persons parking 
scheme and 
promote the 
scheme to older 
people.

Roy Clark 31.03.19 Ongoing -

The Brown Badge Older Person's parking scheme 
continues to be popular and, in the 6 months to October 
2018, a total of 1,077 new Brown Badges were issued 
to our older residents.  This represents an increase in 
applications of 5.4% for the same period in 2017.  At 
the start of October 2018, there were a total of 12,202 
active Brown Badge users. 

During the same period 143 replacement Brown 
Badges were issued to holders that had mislaid their 
badges. 

3.4 Continue to 
develop and 
expand facilities 
for older people 
in Hillingdon’s 
allotments.

3.4.1 Improve 
access and 
facilities for older 
people in 
Hillingdon’s 
allotments

Adrian 
Batten

31.03.19 Ongoing - Regular maintenance jobs continue to be carried out, 
including repairing water leaks to troughs, fencing, grounds 
maintenance and waste removal as required.

359 free allotment plots are allocated to the over 65's. 
This initiative is continuing for 2018/2019 financial year. 
61 plots are allocated to the over 60's at a half price 
concession.

P
age 25



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

3.5 Actively promote 
the opportunities 
available to older 
people to keep 
healthy, 
independent and 
well and 
establish what 
difference they 
are making to 
improve the lives 
of older people

3.5.1 Ensure 
articles appear in 
every edition of 
Hillingdon People 
and on the Council 
website promoting 
the opportunities 
available and 
making use of 
feedback from 
older people

Emma 
Gilbertson 
/ Marion 
Finney

31.03.19 Ongoing – articles appear in every edition of Hillingdon 
People within the older people’s page. Recent content 
is as follows:

Hillingdon People July/August 2018

 Article on refurbishment works at Elm Park Club 
and Ruislip Royal British Legion club. 

 Dementia Action Week post event feature. 
 Feature on outdoor activities, including fishing, 

golf and led walks. 
 Royal wedding parties for older residents. 
 Article to highlight that the TeleCareLine service 

is now free for over-75s.

September/October 

 Trip to Brighton for residents living with 
dementia. 

 Feature about dining centres and lunch clubs.

November/December 

 Article about the new extra-care development, 
Grassy Meadow Court, featuring one of its new 
residents. 

 Feature about our variety of dance classes. 
 Club and Mill Bowling Club 

P
age 26



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

4.  Supporting Older People in the Community
4.1 Improve financial 

inclusion for older 
people in the 
Borough

4.1.1 Deliver 
benefits and 
financial advice and 
support sessions 
for older people 
across the Borough 
through the Age UK 
Hillingdon financial 
health checks

Age UK 
Hillingdon

Julian Lloyd

31.03.19 Ongoing

Through our information and advice services Age UK helped 
Hillingdon residents to secure £921,810 of benefits during the 
first 6 months of 2018/19.  It should be noted that this figure is 
a little higher due to some delayed data entry from 2017/18, as 
such we expect a slightly lower figure for the second half of 
2018/19.  This additional income has the potential to radically 
improve quality of life for older residents of Hillingdon as well 
as inject new money into the local economy. 

4.2 Support older 
people in their 
own homes to 
stay warm and 
healthy during 
the winter months

4.2.1 Provide free 
temporary heaters 
and small grants to 
cover electricity 
costs to older 
people.

John 
Wheatley

31.03.19 Ongoing –

The Council continues to provide a heater loan to residents 
aged over 65 whose heating is not working. In addition, once 
the heater is returned, the Council pays a one-off small grant to 
people to ensure they are not discouraged from using the 
heater by the cost of fuel.

There are 87 heaters in stock ready for use during cold weather.

P
age 27



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

4.3 Provide and 
encourage 
opportunities for 
older people to 
actively 
participate in 
events across 
Hillingdon.

4.3.1 Provide 
support to 
community groups 
for older people as 
requested through 
the Leader's 
Initiative for Older 
People.

John 
Wheatley

31.03.19 Ongoing – The Leader continues to support community groups 
working with older people.

During Q1 and Q2 of 2018/19, funding has been provided from 
the Leader’s Initiative for Older People to older people’s groups 
and organisations to hold 28 celebratory events and 
excursions. This includes Christmas parties, lunches and 
summer excursions.

P
age 28



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

5.  Housing
5.1 Help older people 

to live 
independently in 
safe, warm 
homes. 

5.1.2 Deliver 
support for older 
people in their 
own homes

Age UK 
Hillingdon

Julian Lloyd

31.03.19 Ongoing -

Age UK Hillingdon continue to support older people in their 
homes.  The transition from the small-scale Handyperson 
service to a fully functioning local ‘trusted traders’ service has 
completed.  

Age UK’s Trusted Traders offer is proving incredibly popular 
and effective.  There are now 16 local tradespeople on the list, 
all of whom are vetted by Age UK. Age UK can signpost older 
people to trustworthy local tradespeople who cover a wide 
range of professions, from odd jobs through to qualified 
electricians and plumbers.  In the first 6 months of 2018/19, 483 
enquiries have been signposted to local traders.  The service 
has received many positive reviews and to date no complaints.

The Help at Home Service provides assistance covering odd 
jobs, help with decluttering, practical help with bereavement 
and support to regain skills and confidence. The Service carried 
out 8,396 jobs in the period from April to September and has an 
average of 300 clients each month.

P
age 29



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

5.1.3 Deliver the 
Good 
Neighbours and 
Falls Prevention 
Services

Age UK 
Hillingdon

Julian Lloyd

31.03.19 Ongoing -

Age UK Hillingdon provide a free Falls Prevention Service 
funded by Hillingdon CCG and LBH  through the Better Care 
Fund to people aged 65 or over. A falls assessment is 
conducted and advice is given on the range of aids, 
adaptations and other support which may be available.  A 
home exercise programme may be prescribed to build 
confidence, improve strength and increase mobility.  

The service is overseen by trained physiotherapists and during 
the first 6 months of 2018/19 101 older people benefited from 
this intervention.

Our Good neighbours and befriending services are targeted at 
supporting isolated, lonely and vulnerable older people in 
Hillingdon.  In the first 6 months of 2018/19 we have supported 
195 older people through regular home visits or support to 
attend activities.  This scheme is successful thanks to the 115 
regular volunteers who provide this valued service.

 

P
age 30



Cabinet – 15 November 2018
Part 1 – Public

5.2 Deliver the major 
adaptations 
programmes for 
all tenures within 
budget

5.2.1 Improve 
private sector 
homes for older 
vulnerable people

Complete major 
adaptations 
increasing 
independence for 
older people

Residents 
Services

31.03.19 Ongoing – 

19 people aged 60 and over were assisted to stay in their own 
home through the provision of disabled facilities grants (DFGs) 
during Q1, which represented 55% of the grants provided. This 
has prevented the need to identify alternative housing options at 
a time when housing in short supply and compares to 14 older 
people who were assisted in the same period in 2017/18.

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

COUNCIL BUDGET:
2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONTH 6 BUDGET MONITORING

Cabinet Member Councillor Jonathan Bianco

Cabinet Portfolio Finance, Property and Business Services

Report Author Paul Whaymand, Corporate Director of Finance

Papers with report Appendices A – H

HEADLINE INFORMATION

Purpose of report This report provides the Council's forecast financial position 
and performance against the 2018/19 revenue budgets and 
Capital Programme.

An underspend of £259k is reported against 2018/19 General 
Fund revenue budgets as of September 2018 (Month 6), 
representing an improvement of £31k from the position 
reported to Cabinet at Month 5.

The latest positions on other funds and the Capital Programme 
are detailed within the body of this report, with continuing 
pressures on High Needs placements in the Schools Budget 
feeding through to a projected £6,965k cumulative deficit on the 
ringfenced Dedicated Schools Grant account.  This represents 
an adverse movement of £290k on the previously reported 
position.

Contribution to our 
plans and strategies

Putting our Residents First: Financial Management

Achieving Value for Money is an important element of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.

Financial Cost N/A

Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee

Corporate Services, Commerce & Communities

Ward(s) affected All

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Cabinet:

1. Note the budget position as at September 2018 (Month 6) as outlined in Table 1.
2. Note the Treasury Management update as at September 2018 at Appendix E.
3. Continue the delegated authority up until the next Cabinet meeting to the Chief Executive 

to approve any consultancy and agency assignments over £50k, with final sign-off of any 
assignments made by the Leader of the Council. Cabinet are also asked to note those 
consultancy and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated authority 
between 25th October and 15th November 2018 Cabinet meetings, detailed at Appendix 
F.

4. Approve the release of the following sums from Development and Risk Contingency to 
Directorate Operating Budgets:

a. Demographic Growth – Adult Social Care - £1,711k
b. Demographic Growth - Looked after Children - £394k
c. Demographic Growth - SEN Transport - £184k
d. Management savings action – Adult Social Care – (£1,969k)
e. Uncertainty at budget setting - Apprenticeship Levy - £376k
f. Uncertainty at budget setting - Uninsured Claims - £291k

5. Approve acceptance of gift funding of up to £30k in relation to a Planning Performance 
Agreement in accordance with the provisions of Section 93 of the Local Government Act 
2003 for the Former Dairy Crest site, 297 Long Lane, Hillingdon.

6. Approve the acceptance of £100k additional funding from the Department of Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy for the National Safety at Ports project.

7. Approves the introduction of offering unattended cremations at Breakspear 
Crematorium at a cost of £315, for implementation on the 1st December 2018.

8. Note the implementation of the new legislation relating to Animal Welfare which came 
into force on the 1st October 2018 and approve the related fees to be implemented with 
immediate effect.

9. Ratify a special urgency decision taken by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member 
for Finance, Property and Business Services on 31 October 2018 to approve that the 
contract for general repairs and maintenance to our corporate buildings, currently 
with Mitie TFM Limited, be disseminated with day-to-day maintenance and repairs 
brought in-house and managed by the Council’s Housing Repairs Team and specialist 
compliance elements to be added to contracts already in place with Housing.

INFORMATION

Reasons for Recommendations

1. The reason for Recommendation 1 is to ensure that the Council achieves its budgetary 
objectives, providing Cabinet with an update on performance at Month 6 against budgets 
approved by Council on 22 February 2018. An update on the Council's Treasury Management 
activities is signposted in Recommendation 2.

2. Recommendation 3 is intended to enable continued delegation of approval for appointment of 
consultancy and agency appointments over £50k to the Chief Executive, with final sign-off from 
the Leader of the Council.  In addition, Appendix F reports on use of this delegated authority 
previously granted by Cabinet.

3. In advance of the December Budget Report, it is proposed to release those elements of 
Development and Risk Contingency relating to confirmed demographic growth relating to prior 
years (Adults, Childrens and SEN Transport), items which were uncertain at the time of budget 

Page 34



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

setting and are now certain (uninsured claims & apprenticeship levy) and management actions 
designed to reduce contingency pressures now confired as delivered (Adult Social Care 
savings), into base budgets. Recommendation 4 therefore seeks authotity to release this 
£987k (£2,956k gross netted down by £1,969k management savings actions) to appropriate 
service operating budgets.

4. Gift funding has been offered by developers which if accepted by Cabinet will be utilised to 
fund dedicated staff to support this pre-application and application work.  Recommendation 5 
seeks authority from Cabinet to approve the acceptance of £30k, in relation to the major 
development of the Former Dairy Crest site, 297 Long Lane, Hillingdon.

5. The Council has been offered up to £100k of additional funding from the Department of 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy to support work undertaken as part of the National 
Safety at Ports project at Heathrow Aiport.  Recommendation 6 seeks authority to accept and 
release this funding into Residents Services budgets.

6. Cabinet is requested to approve the introduction of unattended cremations at Breakspear 
Crematorium at a cost of £315 from the 1st December 2018 under Recommendation 7.  This 
is a service enhancement in respond to demand for the service and it is in line with the provision 
at neighbouring crematoria.  Further background to this recommendation is set out in Appendix 
G.

7. In line with the introduction of new legislation relating to Animal welfare ((Licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018), Cabinet are asked at Recommendation 8 to 
note the new regulations and approve the introduction of a new fee structure to account for the 
higher level of scrutiny required to be undertaken and set according to the LGA Guidance on 
Locally set fees.  Further background to this recommendation is set out in Appendix H.

8. The maintenance and compliance servicing of the Council’s Civic Centre and other corporate 
buildings have been the contractual responsibility of Mitie TFM over the past 10 years.  
Following a review, a decision was taken to discontinue with the contract and in-source the 
day-to-day repairs and maintenance services to create a stable platform for future decisions 
around service delivery, noting that the industry had become increasingly risk adverse and a 
period of consolidation was required. This change in the nature of service provision across the 
Borough’s facilities, in accordance with the Council's Constitution, would ordinarily require 
Cabinet approval. However, the Leader of the Council has the authority to take decisions on 
behalf of Cabinet where it is deemed urgent and they are then reported back to Cabinet for 
ratification as set out in Recommendation 9.

Page 35



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

SUMMARY

REVENUE

9. General Fund revenue budgets are projected to underspend by £259k as at Month 6, although 
this includes a number of reported pressures included growing demand for Children’s Services 
and the cost of Fleet Management operations being offset through a range of measures 
including; workforce underspends, reduced capital financing costs, release of General 
Contingency and deployment of Earmarked Reserves.  Within this position, there remains 
£458k uncommitted General Contingency available to manage emerging issues over the 
remainder of this financial year.

10. The General Fund  forecast represents an improvement of £31k from the Month 5 reported 
position, reflecting £31k net favourable improvement across group positions.

11. General Fund Balances are expected to total £39,630k at 31 March 2019, under the 
assumption that the remaining Unallocated Budgets are utilised in-year, and reflecting the 
planned £950k drawdown from the £40,321k opening General Balances.

12. Of the £10,655k savings included in the 2018/19 budget, £8,655k are either banked or classed 
as 'on track for delivery', with £2,000k classified as being higher risk or in the early stages of 
delivery. Ultimately, all £10,655k savings are expected to be delivered in full or met through 
alternative mechanisms. Any items with potential issues will be covered by alternative in-year 
savings proposals and management actions.

13. A surplus of £1,088k is reported within the Collection Fund relating to favourable positions on 
both Council Tax and Business Rates, which is predominantly driven by strong growth in 
Business Rates in the borough and a carry forward surplus within Council Tax and represents 
a £79k adverse movement on Month 5 due to a number of outstanding Business Rate appeals 
being settled. Any surplus realised at outturn will be available to support the General Fund 
budget in future years. 

14. The Dedicated Schools Grant is projecting an in-year overspend of £2,840k at Month 6, an 
adverse movement of £290k from Month 5.  This overspend is largely due to continuing 
pressures in the cost of High Needs and results in a forecast carry forward cumulative deficit 
of £6,965k at 31 March 2019.  At Month 6, this position on the Schools Budget has been 
exacerbated by the decision by the Department for Education to clawback £443k Early Years 
funding due to lower than anticipated demand for the new extended fifteen hours of free 
childcare.

15. As previously noted, it is becoming increasingly unlikely that this pressure can be contained 
within the Schools Budget, and therefore the longer-term solution to this pressure may 
represent a significant risk within the context of the Council’s own medium term financial 
planning. This is a problem across the sector and as such, there is significant lobbying of 
government in progress.

CAPITAL

16. As at Month 6 an underspend of £65k is reported across the £392,591k General Fund Capital 
Programme, with no material variances reported at individual project level.  While a favourable 
variance of £1,227k is reported on capital grant income, a £848k shortfall in capital receipts is 
expected to result in a £556k pressure against £72,377k budgeted Prudential Borrowing.  
Slippage in planned capital expenditure from 2018/19 is expected to reduce the in year 

Page 36



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

borrowing requirement by £33,173k and therefore impact favourably on debt financing costs 
for 2019/20.

Page 37



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

FURTHER INFORMATION

General Fund Revenue Budget

17. An underspend of £259k is reported across normal operating activities at Month 6, although 
this includes a number of underlying pressures including Children’s Services Placements and 
Fleet Management. These are being contained at a corporate level through the use of 
workforce underspends, Earmarked Reserves, uncommitted General Contingency budget and 
favourable variances on Corporate Operating Budgets arising from slippage in borrowing 
required to support capital investment.

18. £10,655k of savings are included in the 2018/19 General Fund revenue budget. Currently 
£6,705k are banked, delivery is currently in progress against £1,950k of savings, £2,000k are 
tracked as amber due to either being in the early stages of delivery or deemed higher risk 
although all savings are expected to ultimately be delivered in full or met through alternative 
measures.  Since Month 5, £211k of savings have been moved to banked, amber savings 
remain at £2,000k, with no movement from Month 5.

Table 1: General Fund Overview
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

207,578 (665) Directorate Operating 
Budgets 206,913 207,114 201 232 (31)

4,878 (271) Corporate Operating 
Budgets 4,607 4,169 (438) (438) 0

8,929 0 Development & Risk 
Contingency 8,929 8,929 (0) (0) (0)

200 0 HIP Initiatives 200 200 0 0 0

(1,249) 936 Unallocated Budget 
Items (313) (313) 0 0 0

220,336 0 Sub-total Normal 
Activities 220,336 220,099 (237) (206) (31)

 Exceptional Items   

0 0 None identified at this 
time 0 0 0 0 0

220,336 0 Total Net Expenditure 220,336 220,099 (237) (206) (31)

(219,386) 0 Budget Requirement (219,386) (219,408) (22) (22) 0

950 0 Net Total 950 691 (259) (228) (31)

(40,321) 0 Balances b/fwd (40,321) (40,321)    

(39,371) 0 Balances c/fwd 31 
March 2019 (39,371) (39,630)    

19. General Fund Balances are projected to total £39,630k at 31 March 2019 as a result of the 
planned drawdown of £950k being reduced by the £259k projected in year underspend. The 
Council's current MTFF assumes that unallocated balances will remain between £15,000k and 
£32,000k to manage emergent risks, with any sums above that level earmarked for use to 
smooth the impact of Government funding cuts.

Page 38



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Directorate Operating Budgets

20. Directorate Operating Budgets represent the majority of the Council’s investment in day-to-day 
services for residents, with more volatile or demand-led areas of activity tracked separately 
through the Development and Risk Contingency. Further information on the latest projections 
for each service is contained within Appendix A to this report, with salient risks and variances 
within this position summarised in the following paragraphs.

Table 2: Directorate Operating Budgets
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
7,591 46 Expenditure 7,637 7,529 (108) (133) 25

(1,092) 0 Income (1,092) (1,136) (44) (15) (29)

6,499 46 C
hi

ef
 

E
xe

cu
tiv

e'
s 

O
ffi

ce

Sub-Total 6,545 6,393 (152) (148) (4)

17,262 (17) Expenditure 17,245 17,385 140 157 (17)
(3,170) 0 Income (3,170) (3,577) (407) (402) (5)

14,092 (17) Fi
na

nc
e

Sub-Total 14,075 13,808 (267) (245) (22)

116,355 1,880 Expenditure 118,235 118,811 576 444 132
(43,096) (1,625) Income (44,721) (44,667) 54 136 (82)

73,259 255 R
es

id
en

ts
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Sub-Total 73,514 74,144 630 580 50

142,505 464 Expenditure 142,969 145,047 2,078 1,594 484
(28,777) (1,413) Income (30,190) (32,278) (2,088) (1,549) (539)

113,728 (949)

S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

Sub-Total 112,779 112,769 (10) 45 (55)

207,578 (665) Total Directorate 
Operating Budgets 206,913 207,114 201 232 (31)

21. An underspend of £152k is reported on the Chief Executive’s Office budgets at Month 6 as a 
result of vacancies and non-staffing underspends and the overachievement of income within 
Human Resources.  Across Finance, a net underspend of £267k is projected as a result of 
vacant posts across the directorate while compensatory variances on income and expenditure 
relate to revisions to grant funding to support Housing Benefit administration and associated 
investment in additional staffing.

22. A net pressure of £630k is reported across Residents Services, representing an adverse 
movement of £50k on the previously reported position at Month 5. This adverse movement  
results from pressures  on Highways  and Street Lighting £87k and Parks and Green Spaces 
£60k offset by reduced pressure of £48k on residual expenditure for staffing costs for Capital 
and Planned works, a favourable movement on Waste Services of £34k. and other minor 
favourable movements across the group

23. The Residents Services position for Month 6 incorporates pressures of £683k linked to vehicle 
hire and maintenance in fleet services, £140k residual costs for Capital and Planned works, 
£117k on Residual Education functions and  £164k on Green Spaces which are offset by 
staffing vacancies and the use of Earmarked reserves to support services.  A range of 
management actions are being undertaken which are expected to improve this position and 
reduce the forecast deployment of Earmarked Reserves to support these priority services.

Page 39



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

24. A net £10k underspend  is reported across Social Care budgets, representing an improvement 
of  £55k from Month 5 which is net impact of a number of minor changes across the service. 
Overall there is an overspend on the current level of agency staff to cover essential and hard 
to fill posts, legal costs and the cost of supporting Section 17 cases within Children Services 
amounting to a net £386k pressure. These pressures are offset by workforce underspends 
across the wider offset by Directorate and a favourable movement on client income for Adult 
Social Care Placements.  In addition, the headline position incorporates pressures arising from 
higher placement costs following slippage in opening the Parkview development which are 
epxetced to be funded through liquidated damages from the contractor. Similarly, the 
management of this position is currently dependent on drawdown of earmarked reserves which 
are expected to reduce as the year progresses and the impact of management actions and 
new ways of working are delivered.

25. The Council is permitted to finance the costs associated with service transformation from 
Capital Receipts, with both one-off implementation costs and the support for service 
transformation, including the BID team, being funded from this resource.  Current projections 
include an estimate of £1,931k for such costs, which will continue to be reviewed over the 
remainder of the year and have been excluded from reported monitoring positions. It is 
anticipated that these costs will be financed from a combination of Capital Receipts and 
Earmarked Reserves.

Progress on Savings

26. Savings of £10,655k were included in the 2018/19 budget, of which £8,655k are either banked 
or on track for delivery which is no change from the  position as at Month 5. £2,000k savings 
are in the early stages of delivery or potentially subject to greater risk to delivery, no change 
from Month 5, however ultimately all £10,655k savings are expected to be either delivered in 
full or replaced with alternative initiatives. Any items with potential issues will be covered by 
alternative in-year savings proposals and management actions.

Table 3: Savings Tracker
CEOs Finance Residents 

Services
Social 
Care

Cross-
Cutting

Total 2018/19 
Savings2018/19 General Fund 

Savings Programme £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %
B Banked (58) (596) (2,444) (3,300) (247) (6,705) 62.9%
G On track for delivery  0 (132) (170) (1,152) (556) (1,950) 18.3%

A

Potential significant 
savings shortfall or a 
significant or risky 
project which is at 
an early stage;

 0 0 (500) (476) (1,024) (2,000) 18.8%

R
Serious problems in 
the delivery of the 
saving

 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0%

Total 2018/19 Savings (58) (728) (3,114) (4,928) (1,827) (10,655) 100.0%

Page 40



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Corporate Operating Budgets

27. Corporately managed expenditure includes the revenue costs of the Council's Capital 
Programme, the net impact of Housing Benefit Subsidy arrangements on the Council, 
externally set levies and income arising from the provision of support services to other funds 
and ring-fenced budgets.

28. As a result of anticipated capital expenditure and associated borrowing being deferred from 
2018/19, a £501k underspend is forecast, and no change from Month 5.  Externally set levies 
are reporting a pressure of £63k in relation to additional investment to support implementation 
of the West London District Coroners Service Improvement Plan. All other levies have been 
confirmed by awarding bodies and are not expected to vary materially over the remainder of 
the financial year.

Table 4: Corporate Operating Budgets
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
0 0 Salaries 0 0 0 0 0

6,259 (299) Non-Sal 
Exp 5,960 5,459 (501) (501) 0

(371) 100 Income (271) (271) 0 0 0
5,888 (199) In

te
re

st
 a

nd
 

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

In
co

m
e

Sub-Total 5,689 5,188 (501) (501) 0
480 0 Salaries 480 480 0 0 0

11,237 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 11,237 11,300 63 63 0

(11,602) (72) Income (11,674) (11,674) 0 0 0
115 (72) Le

vi
es

 a
nd

 
O

th
er

 
C

or
po

ra
te

 
B

ud
ge

ts

Sub-Total 43 106 63 63 0
0 0 Salaries 0 0 0 0 0

147,529 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 147,529 147,529 0 0 0

(148,654) 0 Income (148,654) (148,654) 0 0 0
(1,125) 0

H
ou

si
ng

 
B

en
ef

it 
S

ub
si

dy

Sub-Total (1,125) (1,125) 0 0 0

4,878 (271) Total Corporate 
Operating Budgets 4,607 4,169 (438) (438) 0

Page 41



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Development & Risk Contingency

29. For 2018/19, £8,929k was set aside to manage uncertain elements of budgets within the 
Development & Risk Contingency, which included £7,929k in relation to specific risk items and 
£1,000k as General Contingency to manage unforeseen issues.  At this stage in the financial 
year, a breakeven position is projected against this provision, which represents no change from 
the projection at Month 5.  Within this position, £458k of General Contingency remains available 
to manage emerging risks.

Table 5: Development & Risk Contingency
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
291 0 Fin. Uninsured claims 291 291 0 0 0

1,736 0 Impact of Welfare Reform 
on Homelessness 1,736 958 (778) (650) (128)

1,172 0 Waste Disposal Levy & 
Associated Contracts 1,172 772 (400) 0 (400)

200 0 R
es

id
en

ts
 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Heathrow Expansion 
Challenge Fund 200 200 0 0 0

1,885 0 Asylum Service 1,885 1,985 100 100 0

797 0 Demographic Growth - 
Looked After Children 797 1,566 769 669 100

367 0 Demographic Growth - 
Children with Disabilities 367 731 364 364 0

277 0 Social Worker Agency 
Contingency 277 399 122 122 0

443 0 SEN transport 443 773 330 0 330

730 0 Demographic Growth - 
Adult Social Care 730 770 40 29 11

50 0 Winterbourne View 50 50 0 0 0

0 1,041 Winter Funding – Social 
Care Activity 1,041 1,041 0 0 0

0 (1,041)

S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e

Winter (1,041) (1,041) 0 0 0
381 0 Apprenticeship Levy 381 376 (5) (5) 0

(400) 0 Additional Investment 
Income (400) (400) 0 0 0

1,000 0

C
or

p.
 

Ite
m

s

General Contingency 1,000 458 (542) (629) (87)

8,929 0 Total Development & Risk 
Contingency 8,929 8,929 0 (0) 0

30. The managed reduction in households accommodated in Bed and Breakfast seen throughout 
2017/18 has continued into 2018/19, with projections assuming that the number of households 
will be maintained at 130, 20 below MTFF assumptions for the remainder of the year. In 
addition, continuing management action to reduce the costs and use of Temporary 
Accommodation through maintaining a high number of placements into the private sector is 
expected to deliver a £778k underspend against contingency provision, an improvement of 
£128k from Month 5.

31. The call on the Waste contingency reflects an underspend of £400k for month 6 against  the 
budgeted provision of £1,172k, to fund estimated population driven increases in the cost of 
disposal via the West London Waste Authority (WLWA) levy and associated waste disposal 
contracts.  Whilst aggregate waste tonnages in the first six months of 2018/19 have  shown an 
increase compared to the same period last year, the rate of increase has slowed recently (in 

Page 42



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

particular that for organic waste, which has been affected by the very dry summer). Current 
projections indicate that costs can be managed within the reduced contingency sum.

32. As at Month 6 the Asylum service is projecting a drawdown of £1,985k from the contingency, 
an overspend of £100k, no change from the Month 5  forecast, due to a reduction in the 
assumed income that will be received from the Asylum Grant. The Home Office have now 
released the outcome of their funding review, which clarifies that there will be no change in 
2018/19. The pressure reported relates to a drop in the level of income following the submission 
of the grant claims which were held up pending the outcome of this review.

33. There is an adverse movement at Month 6 of £100k with forecast overspend of £769k  on the 
contingency provision for Looked After Children as result of a continuing increase in the number 
of high cost Residential placements, where the Service has had to place children outside of the 
Borough. The unit cost of placement has increased from an average of £3,400 per week to 
£4,000 per week, and the length of stay is now longer than in previous years due to the complex 
nature of the support required. It is also evident that the type of places needed are becoming 
increasingly harder to source as other Councils are trying to secure similar places. The service 
continues to monitor this position through regular reviews of individual cases, and where 
possible children are stepped down when it is safe to do so. 

34. The Children with Disabilities service is projecting a draw down of £731k from the Contingency, 
representing a £364k forecast overspend no change from Month 5 projections. The service 
have taken steps to review individual placements to ascertain whether any of the placements 
should be part funded by external partners, such as education and health and anticipate that a 
number of placements will be part funded. 

35. The service is projecting a drawdown of £770k from the Demographic Growth for Adult Social 
Care contingency, a pressure of £40k, a minor adverse movement of £11k from Month 5.  The 
Month 6 data continues to show signs of growth in the number of and complexity of Social Care 
placements especially those with Learning Disability and Mental Health issues which are offset 
by more certainty in the numbers of new placements for Transitional Children as they transfer 
into Adult Social Care.

36. On 17 October 2018 the Department of Health and Social Care confirmed funding allocations 
totalling £240m of additional funding for councils to spend on adult social care services to help 
councils alleviate winter pressures on the NHS, getting patients home quicker and freeing p 
hospital beds across England.  Hillingdon will receive £1,041k of this funding, which will be 
managed through contingency and applied to ensure appropriate social care packages are in 
place for those leaving hospital with eligibility for social care.

37. The service is projecting a drawdown of £399k from the Social Worker agency contingency, an 
overspend of £122k no change from the Month 5 position, reflecting the latest recruitment 
success of Newly Qualified Social Workers. This contingency reflects the additional cost of 
using agency staff to cover essential Social Worker posts as the recruitment of Social Workers 
continues to be very competitive.

38. No other material variances are reported against specific contingency items; with a minor £5k 
underspend on the Apprenticeship Levy reflecting current payroll expenditure.  To date there 
have been no specific calls on the £1,000k General Contingency, and it has been assumed 
that £531k of this sum will be applied to fund the pressures outlined above, with the remaining 
£469k to manage emerging issues.  

Page 43



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

HIP Initiatives

39. £200k of HIP Initiative funding is included in the 2018/19 General Fund revenue budget, which 
is supplemented by £899k brought forward balances, to provide £1,099k resources. £108k of 
projects have been approved through HIP Steering Group for funding from resources as at 
Month 6, leaving £991k available for future release.

Table 6: HIP Initiatives
Month 6

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Approved 

Allocations
Unallocated 

Balance

£'000 £'000

HIP Initiatives

£'000 £'000 £'000
200 0 HIP Initiatives Budgets 200 0 (200)

0 899 B/fwd Funds 899 108 (791)
200 899 Total HIP Initiatives 1,099 108 (991)

Schools Budget

40. At Month 6 the Dedicated Schools Grant position is an in-year overspend of £2,840k. This is 
predominantly due to continuing pressures in the cost of High Needs. When the £4,125k deficit 
brought forward from 2017/18 is taken into account, the forecast deficit to carry forward to 
2019/20 is £6,965k.  This represents an adverse movement of £290k on the previously reported 
position, with £267k of this movement attributable to the continuing High Needs pressure, which 
is expected to worsen following the start of the new academic year.

41. In addition, the Month 6 position includes a £89k improvement on Early Years which reflects 
the adjustment to the two year old funding to reflect the number of children accessing the 
entitlement based upon the January 2018 census.

 Collection Fund

42. A £1,088k surplus is projected against the Collection Fund at Month 6, a £79k adverse 
movement from Month 5, which is made up of a £706k surplus on Council Tax and a £382k 
surplus on Business Rates. The Council Tax surplus is largely as a result of strong in-year 
collection rates contributing £205k and the brought forward surplus of £499k relating to better 
than expected performance during 2017/18. The favourable variance across Business Rates 
is due to strong growth in Business Rates as a number of new developments in the borough 
have been brought into rating, with a £822k in-year surplus being sufficient to offset the brought 
forward deficit of £440k. The £78k adverse movement on Month 5 is due to a number of 
Business Rate appeals being resolved.

Housing Revenue Account

43. The Housing Revenue Account is currently forecasting a £275k favourable variance, resulting 
in a drawdown of reserves of £21,162k. This results in a projected 2018/19 closing HRA 
General Balance of £15,946k, with the use of reserves funding investment in new housing 
stock.  The headline monitoring position incorporates underspends of £705k mainly in relation 
to planned works and contingency, offsetting a £430k predominantly from rental income.

Future Revenue Implications of Capital Programme

44. Appendix D to this report outlines the forecast outturn on the 2018/19 to 2022/23 Capital 
Programme, with a £65k underspend projected over the five-year programme.  Alongside a 
marginal variance on Government Grant income and a less favourable outlook for Capital 

Page 44



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Receipts, Prudential Borrowing is projected to be £556k higher than the £178,625k revised 
budget.  While it is anticipated that this uplift could be managed within the planned £8,133k 
growth in capital financing costs over the MTFF period, any further reductions in anticipated 
Capital Receipts or increases in project expenditure may necessitate a review of future 
financing costs.

Page 45



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix A – Detailed Group Forecasts (General Fund)

Chief Executive's Office (£152k underspend, £4k improvement)

45. The CEO directorate is reporting an underspend of £152k at Month 6, representing a minor 
improvement of £4k on Month 5.  The position across the group reflects a number of part year 
vacancies, non-staffing underspends and the overachievement of income within Human 
Resources. 

Table 7: Chief Executive's Office Operating Budgets
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,445 0 Salaries 1,445 1,475 30 31 (1)

1,750 (29) Non-Sal 
Exp 1,721 1,691 (30) (30) 0

(602) 0 Income (602) (606) (4) (3) (1)
2,593 (29) D

em
oc

ra
tic

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

Sub-Total 2,564 2,560 (4) (2) (2)
2,012 (13) Salaries 1,999 1,920 (79) (78) (1)

361 26 Non-Sal 
Exp 387 374 (13) (31) 18

(230) 0 Income (230) (270) (40) (12) (28)
2,143 13

H
um

an
 

R
es

ou
rc

es

Sub-Total 2,156 2,024 (132) (121) (11)
1,954 75 Salaries 2,029 2,013 (16) (25) 9

69 (13) Non-Sal 
Exp 56 56 0 0 0

(260) 0 Income (260) (260) 0 0 0
1,763 62

Le
ga

l 
S

er
vi

ce
s

Sub-Total 1,825 1,809 (16) (25) 9
5,411 62 Salaries 5,473 5,408 (65) (72) 7

2,180 (16) Non-Sal 
Exp 2,164 2,121 (43) (61) 18

(1,092) 0 Income (1,092) (1,136) (44) (15) (29)
6,499 46

C
hi

ef
 

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e'
s 

O
ffi

ce
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 6,545 6,393 (152) (148) (4)

46. Staffing underspends are reflective of a number of part year vacancies within Legal Services 
and the early delivery of 2019/20 MTFF savings in Human Resources.  A fully resourced 
Democratic Services establishment is leading to an unachievable managed vacancy factor; 
however, this is almost fully mitigated by a favourable Special Responsibility Allowances 
(SRAs) forecast with the recent reduction of two SRAs.  

47. Income across the directorate is on track to achieve a small surplus, primarily as a result of 
increased newly qualified social worker placements in Human Resources. An adverse 
movement on non staffing expenditure reflects an increased number of Social Worker 
placements from London Metropolitan University, fully funded by contributions from the 
provider.

Page 46



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Finance (£267k underspend, £22k improvement)

49. The overall position for Finance at Month 6 is a forecast underspend of £267k. This is an 
improvement of £22k from Month 5 due predominantly to revised assumptions for recruitment 
as new operational structures within Business Assurance are fully established.

Table 8: Finance Operating Budgets
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
2,058 (155) Salaries 1,903 1,781 (122) (91) (31)

1,443 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 1,443 1,514 71 51 20

(567) 0 Income (567) (567) 0 0 0
2,934 (155)

B
us

in
es

s 
A

ss
ur

an
ce

Sub-Total 2,779 2,728 (51) (40) (11)
1,540 0 Salaries 1,540 1,584 44 44 0

64 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 64 55 (9) (9) 0

(35) 0 Income (35) (35) 0 0 0
1,569 0 P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t

Sub-Total 1,569 1,604 35 35 0
3,505 (64) Salaries 3,441 3,422 (19) (18) (1)

1,785 64 Non-Sal 
Exp 1,849 1,858 9 8 1

(151) 0 Income (151) (160) (9) (9) 0
5,139 0 C

or
po

ra
te

 
Fi

na
nc

e

Sub-Total 5,139 5,120 (19) (19) 0
4,277 155 Salaries 4,432 4,527 95 94 1

1,847 (17) Non-Sal 
Exp 1,830 1,910 80 85 (5)

(2,090) 0 Income (2,090) (2,479) (389) (384) (5)
4,034 138 R

ev
en

ue
s 

&
 

B
en

ef
its

Sub-Total 4,172 3,958 (214) (205) (9)
536 0 Salaries 536 530 (6) (4) (2)

207 0 Non-Sal 
Exp 207 204 (3) (3) 0

(327) 0 Income (327) (336) (9) (9) 0
416 0 P

en
si

on
s,

 
Tr

ea
su

ry
 &

 
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
A

cc
ou

nt
in

g

Sub-Total 416 398 (18) (16) (2)
11,916 (64) Salaries 11,852 11,844 (8) 25 (33)

5,346 47 Non-Sal 
Exp 5,393 5,541 148 132 16

(3,170) 0 Income (3,170) (3,577) (407) (402) (5)
14,092 (17)

Fi
na

nc
e 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 14,075 13,808 (267) (245) (22)

50. The Business Assurance staffing underspend is predominantly within Internal Audit. It reflects 
vacancies and savings following the recent BID review of the Service which have been covered 
through external consultancy during the implementation of the structure. The underspend on 
Corporate Finance reflects vacancies within the current establishment.

51. The net underspend  position within the Revenues & Benefits Service includes staffing 
pressures reflecting the cost of temporary agency workers employed on DWP grant funded 
performance based schemes aiming to cut down fraud, and reduce errors in Housing Benefit 
claims. 

Page 47



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

52. Pensions, Treasury and Statutory Accounting is reporting an underspend of £18k, principally 
due to a vacant post held within the service, reduced costs against the external audit contract 
with Ernst & Young, and increased charges to the Pension Fund for support provided.

Page 48



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Residents Services (£630k overspend, £50k adverse movement)

53. Residents Services directorate is showing a projected outturn overspend of £630k at Month 6, 
excluding pressure areas that have identified contingency provisions.

Table 9: Residents Services Operating Budget
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
17,187 110 Salaries 17,297 16,887 (410) (390) (20)

35,689 159 Non-Sal 
Exp 35,848 37,511 1,663 1,431 232

(10,543) (488) Income (11,031) (11,576) (545) (349) (196)
42,333 (219) In

fra
st

ru
ct

ur
e,

 
W

as
te

 a
nd

 
IC

T

Sub-Total 42,114 42,822 708 692 16
18,547 306 Salaries 18,853 18,405 (448) (502) 54

23,510 887 Non-Sal 
Exp 24,397 24,734 337 244 93

(17,361) (1,037) Income (18,398) (18,074) 324 411 (87)
24,696 156

H
ou

si
ng

, 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

t, 
E

du
ca

tio
n,

 
H

ea
lth

 &
 

W
el

lb
ei

ng

Sub-Total 24,852 25,065 213 153 60
3,995 16 Salaries 4,011 3,824 (187) (136) (51)

685 339 Non-Sal 
Exp 1,024 1,155 131 241 (110)

(4,059) (131) Income (4,190) (4,089) 101 (52) 153
621 224

P
la

nn
in

g,
 

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
&

 
R

eg
en

er
at

io
n

Sub-Total 845 890 45 53 (8)
12,626 6 Salaries 12,632 12,292 (340) (330) (10)

4,116 57 Non-Sal 
Exp 4,173 4,003 (170) (114) (56)

(11,133) 31 Income (11,102) (10,928) 174 126 48
5,609 94 A

dm
in

is
tra

tiv
e,

 T
ec

hn
ic

al
 

&
 B

us
in

es
s 

S
er

vi
ce

s

Sub-Total 5,703 5,367 (336) (318) (18)
52,355 438 Salaries 52,793 51,408 (1,385) (1,358) (27)

64,000 1,442 Non-Sal 
Exp 65,442 67,403 1,961 1,802 159

(43,096) (1,625) Income (44,721) (44,667) 54 136 (82)
73,259 255 R

es
id

en
ts

 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
e

Total 73,514 74,144 630 580 50

54. The overall variance is a result of non-staffing pressures across Fleet Management, Grounds 
Maintenance and Residual Education functions being offset by staffing underspends across 
the directorate.

55. The Council’s 2018/19 contingency budget contains provision for areas of expenditure or 
income within Residents Services for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty.  The 
position against these contingency items is shown in Table 10 below.  At Month 6, projected 
calls on contingency are £1,178k below the budgeted provision, a £528k improvement on the 
Month 5 position. The table below shows the breakdown for each contingency item.

Page 49



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Table 10: Development and Risk Contingency

Month 6    
Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Development & Risk 
Contingency

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,736 0
Impact of Welfare 
Reform on 
Homelessness

1,736 958 (778) (650) (128)

1,172 0 Waste Disposal Levy & 
Associated Contracts 1,172 772 (400) 0 (400)

200 0 Heathrow Expansion 
Challenge Fund 200 200 0 0 0

3,108 0 Current 
Commitments 3,108 1,930 (1,178) (650) (528)

56. The Month 6 data in Table 11 below shows a continuation of the reduction achieved in 2017/18 
of the use of Temporary Accommodation. Although there has been an increase in the number 
of Households in higher cost Bed & Breakfast over the 2nd quarter of 2018/19, the total number 
accommodated remains below MTFF assumptions made by officers in modelling Supply and 
Demand.

Table 11: Housing Needs performance data
 July 18 August 18 September 18
All Approaches 223 176 203
Full Assessment Required 223 164 183
New into Temporary Accommodation (Homeless and 
Relief) 12 21 27

Households in Temporary Accommodation 480 476 483
Households in B&B 122 129 135

57. As in previous years, a contingency has been set aside in 2018/19 to resource the procurement 
of Private Sector placements or the need for Temporary Accommodation in the borough. The 
call on contingency relating to homelessness is forecast at £958k, £778k below the budgeted 
provision, a £128k favourable movement from Month 5. The service is forecasting the number 
of clients in B&B accommodation will be 130 at the end of the financial year, 20 below MTFF 
assumptions, whilst reducing the overall use and cost of Temporary Accommodation. This is 
expected to be achieved through maintaining a high number of placements into the private 
sector and the continued close monitoring of unit costs. The £128k improvement at month 6 
largely reflects a forecast reduction in the cost of placements into the private sector.

58. The Council will continue to closely monitor this risk, given the introduction of the Homeless 
Reduction Act in April 2018, potential pressures could materialise in the remainder of the 
financial year. Increased prevention and move-on activity could require the service to draw on 
the Housing Incentives earmarked reserve, with any drawdown being subject to the usual 
approvals.

59. The call on the Waste contingency, to fund estimated population driven increases in the cost 
of tonnages via the West London Waste Authority (WLWA) levy and associated waste disposal 
contracts, is forecast at £772k, having been reduced by £400k at Month 6 from the budgeted 
provision of £1,172k. Whilst aggregate waste tonnages in the first six months of 2018/19 have  
shown an increase compared to the same period last year, the rate of increase has slowed 

Page 50



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

recently (in particular that for organic waste, which has been affected by the very dry summer). 
The current projections based on complete tonnage date for the first six months of the year 
indicate that costs can be managed within this reduced contingency sum in 2018/19. 

Infrastructure, Waste and ICT (£708k overspend, £16k adverse)

60. At Month 6, there is a £708k forecast overspend across the service, from a number of variances 
across service areas reflecting a combination of ongoing staffing and non-staffing pressures. 
The overall forecast encompasses a number of management actions, which will be closely 
monitored during the financial year.

61. The forecast pressure for Fleet Management is £683k, representing an £8k favourable 
movement and relates primarily to vehicle repairs and maintenance, with a combination of 
legacy costs from the outgoing contractor and some additional costs from the new contractor. 
There are also risks associated with increasing fuel costs, potential risks regarding the service’s 
performance in relation to insurance claims and pressures from hired vehicle costs. There are 
a range of management actions in place and the service is implementing a refreshed capital 
Vehicle Replacement Programme that should enable some in-year savings to mitigate these 
pressures.

62. An earmarked reserve drawdown of £500k is offsetting the pressure of £376k in Waste 
Services (a £34k favourable movement). This projected underlying overspend results from a 
temporary increase in overtime payments within the Waste Service due to performance issues 
with agency staff and wider recruitment difficulties in the refuse/recycling area owing to demand 
and competition. Non-staffing costs are forecasting a pressure, due to overspends on refuse 
sacks for green and garden waste and mixed dry recycling. 

63. The Highways and Street Lighting service shows an overall underspend of £25k (£80k lower 
than anticipated at Month 5) largely reflecting anticipated over-achievement against income 
targets, attributable to various revenue streams including S38, S278, vehicle crossings and 
fixed penalties. 

64. The Capital and Planned Works service shows a projected pressure of £140k against base 
budget, a favourable movement of £48k. This reflects the latest forecast of the residual 
expenditure for staffing costs after forecast fees have been assumed as chargeable to capital 
projects. The service is reviewing the cost of some of its higher cost agency to improve the 
position further.

65. The Corporate Communications Service is showing an overspend of £20k against budget, 
attributable to agency cover requirements and printing costs pressures.

Housing, Environment, Education, Health & Wellbeing (£213k overspend, £60k adverse 
movement)

66. At Month 6 there is a £213k forecast, overspend across the service representing a £60k 
adverse  movement from the Month 5 position. Green Spaces shows an adverse movement of 
£164k from Month 5 reflecting reactive repairs and maintenance works in Green Spaces above 
planned provision, additional spend on machinery in Grounds Maintenance and additional 
repairs required to Golf turfs caused by the long dry summer plus sessional staff in libraries . 
The overall position continues to reflect underspends on hard to recruit posts within Youth 
services, reductions in income streams as a result of HS2 implementation within Golf and 
forecast pressures on non-staffing budgets within Parks and Open Spaces.

Page 51



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

67. Underspends from vacant posts within Trading Standards and projected underspends on 
Voluntary sector grants are forecast at Month 6.  The wider Public Health position will be 
influenced by outcomes from the BID review, which is currently focused on areas of contract 
spend and ensuring efficient provision of mandated services.

Planning, Transportation & Regeneration (£45k overspend, £8k favourable movement)

68. A net pressure of £45k is reported across the service at Month 6; with a £187k underspend on 
workforce budgets across Planning Services and Road Safety being offset by £232k pressures 
across non-staffing budgets. A minor £8k favourable movement is reported from Month 5. 

69. Workforce underspends continue to reflect challenging market conditions for the recruitment 
and retention of professional Planning Officers, with a corresponding increase in reliance on 
external consultancy contributing towards the non-staffing pressure.  The reported non-staffing 
position includes a £130k uplift in fees for outsourced planning applications processing, for 
which a specific funding strategy is still to be determined.

70. A breakeven position is reported against the £4,089k Development and Building Control 
revenue streams, although these continue to be closely monitored alongside corresponding 
contract expenditure given both the potential impact of changing property market conditions 
and the need to maintain sufficient capacity within the service to support Planning Performance 
Agreements and Pre-Application Advice. 

Administrative, Technical & Business Services (£336k underspend, £18k improvement)

71. The service is reporting a forecast underspend of £336k at Month 6, representing an £18k 
improvement on the month. The underspend is primarily due to high staff turnover and part 
year vacancies within the support services (Business Services, Technical Administration and 
the Contact Centre). 

72. Within this position, there are ongoing pressures across revenue income streams. The majority 
of this relates to the current underachievement of budgeted income targets for Cedars and 
Grainges car parks, which have a forecast pressure of £441k. This pressure is being offset by 
additional on-street parking income and anticipated drawdown from Earmarked Reserves. 
Within the Heathrow Imported Food Unit, prolonged warmer weather this summer has created 
a drop in imported soil product as produce continues to be grown domestically, resulting in 
reduced testing fees income.

Page 52



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Social Care (£10k underspend, £55k improvement)

73. Social Care is projecting an underspend of  £10k as at Month 6, an improvement of £55k on 
the Month 5 projections due to minor movements across all services. It should be noted that 
the service is managing ongoing cost pressures relating to the cost of Agency Social Workers, 
Legal Counsel and the provision of Temporary Accommodation for Section 17 cases.

Table 12: Social Care Operating Budgets
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
14,762 (6) Salaries 14,756 14,835 79 70 9
17,224 126 Non-Sal Exp 17,350 17,822 472 346 126
(6,483) (201) Income (6,684) (6,849) (165) (35) (130)
25,503 (81) C

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

Sub-Total 25,422 25,808 386 381 5
8,358 105 Salaries 8,463 7,802 (661) (642) (19)
6,044 (105) Non-Sal Exp 5,939 6,073 134 111 23

(2,243) (14) Income (2,257) (1,954) 303 303 0
12,159 (14)

E
ar

ly
 

In
te

rv
en

tio
n,

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
&

 S
E

N
D

Sub-Total 12,145 11,921 (224) (228) 4
4,139 (31) Salaries 4,108 3,872 (236) (195) (41)

38,672 (1,249) Non-Sal Exp 37,423 39,017 1,594 1,205 389
(12,159) 66 Income (12,093) (13,497) (1,404) (1,076) (328)

30,652 (1,214)

S
oc

ia
l 

C
ar

e,
 O

P
S

 
&

 P
D

Sub-Total 29,438 29,392 (46) (66) 20
4,208 (227) Salaries 3,981 4,090 109 119 (10)

34,031 743 Non-Sal Exp 34,774 35,328 554 527 27
(7,291) (1,242) Income (8,533) (9,235) (702) (639) (63)
30,948 (726) Le

ar
ni

ng
 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
 

an
d 

M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lth
 

S
er

vi
ce

Sub-Total 30,222 30,183 (39) 7 (46)
11,719 409 Salaries 12,128 12,118 (10) (81) 71

3,348 699 Non-Sal Exp 4,047 4,090 43 134 (91)
(601) (22) Income (623) (743) (120) (102) (18)

14,466 1,086 P
ro

vi
de

r 
an

d 
C

om
m

is
si

o
ne

d 
C

ar
e

Sub-Total 15,552 15,465 (87) (49) (38)
43,186 250 Salaries 43,436 42,717 (719) (729) 10
99,319 214 Non-Sal Exp 99,533 102,330 2,797 2,323 474

(28,777) (1,413) Income (30,190) (32,278) (2,088) (1,549) (539)
113,728 (949)

So
ci

al
 

C
ar

e 
D

ire
ct

or
at

e 
To

ta
l

Total 112,779 112,769 (10) 45 (55)

Social Care Development and Risk Contingency (£1,725k overspend, £441k adverse)

74. The Council's 2018/19 Development and Risk Contingency includes provisions for areas of 
expenditure within Social Care for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty and relates to 
in-year demographic changes, including Asylum seekers and SEN Transport. Table 13 sets 
out the Month 6 projected position for the Development and Risk Contingency, which is 
reporting a pressure of £1,725k; an adverse movement of £441k on the Month 5 projections, 
due to a further increase in the cost of Looked After Children placements and an increase in 
SEN Transport, due to an increase in pupil numbers that cannot be placed on existing routes.

75. The forecast overspend is due to continuing pressures in the costs of Looked After Children 
and Children with Disabilities placements, where it is evident that the service are supporting 
more children with complex needs. The service are also experiencing growth in SEN Transport 
requirements, where the service have firmed up the impact of the new academic year and the 
new transport requirements. There is also an underlying growth in Adult placements with a 
Learning Disability and Mental Health primary care need. 

Page 53



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Table 13: Social Care Development & Risk Contingency
Month 6    

Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Development & Risk 
Contingency

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
1,885 0 Asylum Service 1,885 1,985 100 100 0

797 0 Demographic Growth - 
Looked After Children 797 1,566 769 669 100

367 0
Demographic Growth - 
Children with 
Disabilities

367 731 364 364 0

277 0 Social Worker Agency 
Contingency 277 399 122 122 0

443 0 SEN transport 443 773 330 0 330

730 0 Demographic Growth - 
Adult Social Care 730 770 40 29 11

50 0 Winterbourne View 50 50 0 0 0
4,549 0 Current Commitments 4,549 6,274 1,725 1,284 441

Asylum Service (£100k overspend, no change)

76. The service is projecting a drawdown of £1,985k from the contingency, no change on the Month 
5 projections. The Home Office released the outcome of their funding review, which clarifies 
that there will be no change in 2018/19. The pressure reported relates to a drop in the level of 
income, following the submission of the grant claims, which were held up pending the outcome 
of this review.

77. The introduction of the National Transfer Agreement in 2016 has enabled the Council to 
transfer a number of under-18 UASC to other local authorities in line with the agreement, which 
results in a lower volume of under 18 cases being supported by Hillingdon. However, the 
Council is starting to see a younger cohort of UASC, generally in the 13 to 14 year old age 
group, which will require at least a Foster Care placement together with a slowdown in the 
number of authorities willing to take UASC, which may have an impact on the projected position 
going forward.

Demographic Growth - Looked After Children (£769k overspend, £100k adverse)

78. The service is projecting a drawdown of £1,566k from the Contingency, an overspend of £769k 
and an adverse movement of £100k on the Month 5 projections. The majority of this pressure 
relates to an increase in the number of high cost Residential placements, where the Service 
has had to place children outside of the Borough. It is also evident that the unit cost has 
increased from an average of £3,400 per week to £4,000 per week, and that the length of stay 
is much greater than in previous years due to the complex nature of the support required. It is 
also evident that the type of places needed are becoming increasingly harder to source as 
other Councils are trying to secure similar placements.

79. The service continues to monitor this position through regular reviews of individual cases, and 
where possible children are stepped down when it is safe to do so. It should also be noted that 
this year could start to see an increase in the number of children looked after, where previously 
this number has remained constant over the last few years.

Demographic Growth – Children with Disabilities (£364k overspend, no change)

Page 54



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

80. The service is projecting a draw down of £731k from the Contingency, an overspend of £364k, 
no change on the Month 5 projections. The service have now taken steps to review individual 
placements to ascertain whether any of the placements should be part funded by external 
partners, such as education and health and anticipate that a number of placements will be part 
funded.

Social Worker Agency (Children's) (£122k overspend, no change)

81. The service is projecting a drawdown of £399k from this contingency, an overspend of £122k 
and no change on the Month 5 position, which continues to reflect the latest recruitment 
success of Newly Qualified Social Workers. The pressure relates to the additional cost of using 
agency staff to cover essential Social Worker posts as the recruitment of Social Workers 
continues to be very competitive. This determination of the contingency is based on a 
proportion of 90% permanent and 10% agency staff, the additional amount reflecting the 
premium that the Council pays for agency staff, which is currently assessed as £18k greater 
than the current total cost of a permanent member of staff. The current figures, based on hard 
to fill posts, indicates that the current percentage usage of agency staff has dropped to 38%, 
based on the latest anticipated recruitment activity.

Demographic Growth - SEN Transport (£330k overspend, £330k adverse)

82. The service is projecting a drawdown of £773k from the SEN Transport contingency, an 
overspend of £330k and an adverse movement of £330k on the Month 5 position. This reflects 
the latest position taking into account the impact of the start of the new academic year, which 
generally has the greatest movement. The additional cost is required to cover the increase in 
the number of pupils that have an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). In most cases the 
increase in the SEN pupil population has been absorbed in existing routes, but given the extent 
of the increase it is now clear that the service will need to purchase additional routes for some 
children, which has resulted in additional funding being required from the contingency.

  Demographic Growth - Adult Social Care (£40k overspend, £11k adverse)

83. The service is projecting a drawdown of £2,647k from the Transitional Children contingency, 
an overspend of £40k, a minor adverse movement of £11k from Month 5 projections. It is 
evident that some of the costs are slightly lower at the beginning of the adult placement for 
Transitional Children, as some of the children choose to stay on in education. However, these 
individuals will eventually be fully funded from the Adult Social Care budget once they turn 25.

84. The service still anticipates the full drawdown of the saving of £1,877k from the contingency, 
reflecting that the service have taken steps to improve processes and ensure that the costs of 
care are met from the appropriate organisation, including education and health. This assumes 
that the slippage in the Park View Extra Care facility (estimated to be £356k) will be covered 
by liquidated damages from the contractor.

Winterbourne View (Nil variance)

85. The service is expecting the full drawdown of £50k from the Winterbourne View contingency, 
no change on last month’s projections, reflecting the cost of the last cohort of clients.

DIRECTORATE OPERATING BUDGETS (£10k underspend, £55k improvement)

Children's Services (£386k overspend, £5k adverse)

Page 55



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

86. The service is projecting an overspend of £386k, as at Month 6, a slight adverse movement of 
£5k on the Month 5 projections. This overspend reflects the current level of agency staff 
employed by the service to cover essential and hard to fill posts. The service anticipates that 
the use of agency staff will start to reduce and is very positive about planned recruitment 
following the recent Ofsted inspection, which resulted in the service being rated good. One 
such example is that the service have recently recruited 17 Newly Qualified Social Workers, 
who will start over the next few months. However, the lead in times for recruitment of Senior 
Social Workers generally exceeds 6 months, as a result, the service are assuming that 
permanent recruitment will take place in March 2019 for all other vacant posts.

87. The service is currently managing a pressure in Legal costs and the cost of supporting Section 
17 cases, through management action and by implementing new ways of working. Additionally, 
the in house Legal Service has recruited an additional advocate, which should help to reduce 
external Legal costs.

 Early Intervention, Prevention & SEND (£224k underspend, £4k adverse)

88. The service is projecting an underspend of £224k as at Month 6, a slight adverse movement of 
£4k on the Month 5 projections. The majority of the underspend relates to staffing, where the 
service has put on hold staff recruitment, whilst it undertakes a BID review. Included in this is 
an underspend of £224k on the Educational Psychological Service, which partially offsets a 
shortfall in income of £362k, following the cessation of funding from the DSG for Early Years 
and School based support. The position also includes a projected overspend of £148k in the 
Early Years Centres budgets, following the transfer of responsibility from the Dedicated 
Schools Grant into the Council’s base budget with effect from 1 September 2018.

Older People and Physical Disabilities (£46k underspend, £20k adverse)

89. The service is projecting an underspend of £46k as at Month 6, an adverse movement of £20k 
on the Month 5 projections, due to an increase in non staffing costs. The service has an 
underspend of £236k on staffing, where the service has a number of vacant posts. In addition, 
there is a £1,404k forecast overachievement of income of which £1,082k relates to clients and 
external organisations and the balance of £322k relates to an increase in the capitalisation of 
adaptation and minor works costs. These are netted down by an overspend of £1,647k on non 
staffing costs, which predominantly relates to the cost of care packages.  

  Learning Disability and Mental Health (£39k underspend, £46k improvement)

90. The service is projecting an underspend of £39k as at Month 6, an improvement of £46k on the 
Month 5 projections, due to an increase in external income. The service is currently reporting 
an overspend of £109k on staffing costs, which is due primarily to a timing difference of 
realigning the salary budgets to reflect recent restructures. This is offset by an increase in 
income received from external organisations totalling £702k, which is netted down by an 
increase in the cost of placements totalling £554k. There is also an adverse movement in DOLs 
spend due to recruitment delays for the new In-House team resulting in an increase in 
contractor spend. This is exacerbated by growth in the number of monthly assessments being 
done following the recent CQC review at Hillingdon Hospital. This has increased referrals by 
circa eight a month.

Provider and Commissioned Care (£87k underspend, £38k improvement)

Page 56



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

91. The service is projecting an underspend of £87k as at Month 6, an improvement of £38k on the 
Month 5 projections. This includes an underspend of £10k on staffing, which relates 
predominantly to the Reablement service, a surplus of £120k in income, which relates to CCG 
grant funding received for one post, netted down by an overspend of £43k on non-staffing 
costs, which relates to a range of proposed savings that are in the process of being finalised 
and relevant budgets being realigned.

Page 57



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix B – Other Funds

COLLECTION FUND (£1,088k underspend, £79k adverse movement)

92. A surplus of £1,088k is reported within the Collection Fund at Month 6, relating to favourable 
positions on both Council Tax and Business Rates, which is predominantly driven by strong 
growth in Rateable Value in the borough and a carry forward surplus within Council Tax. This 
represents a £79k adverse movement from the position reported at Month 5. Any surplus 
realised at outturn will be available to support the General Fund budget from 2019/20 onwards.

93. A surplus of £706k is projected against Council Tax at Month 6, predominantly as a result of 
strong collection rates continuing into and throughout 2018/19 and the brought forward surplus 
of £499k relating to better than expected performance during 2017/18. This represents an 
improvement of £2k from the Month 5 position as shown in Table 14.

Table 14: Collection Fund

Month 6    
Original 
Budget

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(121,176) 0 Gross 
Income (121,176) (121,230) (54) (207) 153

10,918 0
Council 
Tax 
Support

10,918 10,765 (153) 2 (155)

(2,680) 0 B/fwd 
Surplus (2,680) (3,179) (499) (499) 0

(112,938) 0

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x

Sub-Total (112,938) (113,644) (706) (704) (2)

(109,696) 124 Gross 
Income (109,572) (110,770) (1,198) (1,482) 284

(3,849) 0 Section 31 
Grants (3,849) (4,051) (202) (204) 2

53,246 0 Less: 
Tariff 53,246 53,246 0 0 0

7,451 0 Less: Levy 7,451 8,029 578 783 (205)

69 0 B/fwd 
Deficit 69 509 440 440 0

(52,779) 124

B
us

in
es

s 
R

at
es

Sub-Total (52,655) (53,037) (382) (463) 81

(165,717) 124 Total Collection 
Fund (165,593) (166,681) (1,088) (1,167) 79

94. Table 14 shows a £382k net surplus reported across Business Rates at Month 6, driven by 
strong growth in Gross Rates due to a number of new developments in the borough being 
brought into rating. This £822k in-year underspend is sufficient to off-set the brought forward 
deficit of £440k. The £81k adverse movement from month 5 is caused by four appeals against 
property rateable valuation being recently decided by the District Valuer. These appeals have 
been backdated to April 2010, leading to a significant loss of Gross Rateable Value, which has 
been mitigated by the use of the provision for appeals built into the Collection Fund budget.

Page 58



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

SCHOOLS BUDGET

Dedicated Schools Grant (£2,840k overspend, £290k adverse)

95. The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) outturn position is an in-year overspend of £2,840k at 
month 6. This is an adverse movement of £290k from the month 5 position, due to continuing 
pressures in the cost of High Needs placements, and an increase in looked after children 
placements. When the £4,125k deficit brought forward from 2017/18 is taken into account, the 
deficit to carry forward to 2019/20 is £6,965k.

Table15: DSG Income and Expenditure 2018/19
Month 6

Original
Budget

Budget
Changes Revised 

Budget
Forecast 
Outturn Variance 

Variance 
(as at 

Month 5) 

Movement 
from 

Month 5
£'000 £'000

 Funding Block 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
(275,559) 2,260 Dedicated Schools Grant Income (273,299) (273,299) 0 0 0

214,132 0 Schools Block 214,132 213,821 (311) (311) 0
26,100 (2,238) Early Years Block 23,862 24,418 556 645 (89)

2,773 0 Central School Services Block 2,773 2,935 162 50 112
32,554 (22) High Needs Block 32,532 34,965 2,433 2,166 267

0 0 Total Funding Blocks 0 2,840 2,840 2,550 290

0 0
Balance Brought Forward 
1 April 2018 4,125 4,125  

      
0 0 Balance Carried Forward 31 March 2019 4,125 6,965  

Dedicated Schools Grant Income (nil variance, no change)

96. The DSG has now been realigned to reflect all known funding adjustments. The Early Years 
block allocations for the free entitlement for two year olds and three and four year olds are 
updated each July based on data from the January schools and early years censuses. 

97. The High Needs block has been adjusted following the import/export adjustment which has 
been made to reflect any changes either in the placement by a local authority of pupils and 
students in schools and colleges located in other local authority areas (exports), or in the 
funding required by schools and colleges accepting pupils and students resident in other local 
authority areas (imports).

Schools Block (£311k underspend, no change)

98. The £311k underspend relates to the growth contingency fund which is funded from the 
Schools Block. Schools that are expanding, in agreement with the local authority, to meet basic 
need pupil population growth, receive additional funding to provide financial recompense to 
schools throughout the relevant financial year to cover the cost of this agreed and planned 
growth. Schools Forum have taken the decision to withhold growth contingency allocations for 
three schools due to the expectation that pupil growth in September 2018 will not be sufficient 
to require the need for growth contingency funding, which accounts for the majority of this 
underspend. 

99. There is also a mechanism within the growth contingency policy to allow for schools that have  
experienced significant in year growth and it is currently anticipated that there will be an 
underspend in this budget allocation. 

Page 59



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Early Years Block (£556k overspend, £89k improvement)

100. Two year old funding has now been adjusted to reflect the number of children accessing the 
entitlement based on the January 2018 census. This has resulted in a £128k increase in 
2018/19 funding which should cover the cost of the increase in two year olds accessing the 
free entitlement.

101. The 3 and 4 year old funding for both the universal and the additional free entitlement has also 
been adjusted following the January 2018 census and the release of the updated guidance. 
This guidance clarifies that the funding provided for the new additional 15 hour free entitlement 
will be adjusted based on actual take up, which is a change to the treatment of previous new 
initiatives, where the funding provided was not adjusted until sufficient time had been allowed 
to settle in the initiative. Funding for the universal entitlement has increased slightly, whilst the 
funding for the additional 15 hour entitlement has reduced significantly as a consequence of 
lower actual uptake than estimated by the DfE when calculating the original funding allocation. 
The current projection has been revised following publication of the May census data for early 
years and the impact of the funding adjustments is estimated to result in a £501k overspend in 
2018/19.

102. It has been agreed that the DSG will only fund The Early Years Centres up until 31 August 
2018 with any over or underspend at this point to be charged to the DSG. The outturn position 
for the three centres at the end of August is a £100k overspend, as a consequence of a shortfall 
in the levels of income being generated. The only additional charges to the DSG in relation to 
the Early Years Centres will be for overheads which will be calculated at the end of the financial 
year.

103. There is currently an overspend of £38k in the Early Years Advisory Service where a savings 
target of £150k has been put in place by Schools Forum which may not be achieved in full in 
the current year.

104. These overspends are partly offset by a £23k underspend in the Family Information Service 
where there have been vacant posts for part of the year along with a projected underspend in 
vulnerable children funding as fewer children are being identified as requiring additional 
support.

Central School Services Block (£162k overspend, £112k adverse)

105. The overspend follows confirmation from the ESFA that the copyright licences for schools 
should be charged to the centrally retained DSG. The DSG budget was set with the view that 
these licenses could be charged to the Schools Block, and therefore no budget was included 
within the Central School Services Block.

106. The £112k adverse movement from the month 5 projection is as a result of an increase in the 
number of looked after children being educated in residential settings out of borough.

107. The overspend is partly offset by additional income projected from schools that have excluded 
pupils where the local authority is able to recover the Age Weighted Pupil Unit cost for the 
period following exclusion.

High Needs Block (£2,433k overspend, £267k adverse)

108. There continues to be significant pressure in the High Needs Block with an overspend of 
£2,433k being projected at month 6. The main driver for this is linked to the transfer of pupils 
from statements to Education, Health and Care plans (EHCPs). As pupils were transferred to 

Page 60



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

an EHCP they moved onto the new banded funding model which often resulted in a higher 
resource requirement. The transfer process was completed by 31 March 2018; however, there 
are still cases where schools are querying the funding levels allocated. These cases are subject 
to a further review and following the submission of additional evidence often a higher level of 
resource is agreed. The 2018/19 budget was increased to reflect this anticipated increase, but 
the budget is still insufficient.

109. In addition to the cost of pupils with an EHCP, the High Needs Block is now funding Early 
Intervention Funding (EIF) as an alternative to the allocation of statutory funding for children 
with SEN who experience significant barriers to learning. This funding allows schools to access 
funding quicker to enable them to intervene early and have the greatest impact. The current 
projected spend on EIF in 2018/19 is £146k.

110. There is a projected overspend on the placement of pupils with SEN in independent or non-
maintained schools. The High Needs budget for 2018/19 includes a savings target within the 
budget for Independent and non-maintained school SEN placements which is dependent on a 
number of pupils leaving at the end of the summer term 2018 and new placements not being 
made. However, further placements have been made since the budget was set, resulting in an 
additional pressure on the High Needs block.

111. There is an overspend on post-19 SEN placements as this now takes into account new 
placements from September 2018. The costs here will possibly increase further once full details 
of the September 2018 cohort are known in the coming few weeks. 

Page 61



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix C – HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

112. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently forecasting a drawdown of reserves of 
£21,162k, which is £275k more favourable than the budgeted position and the overall 
movement from Month 5 is a favourable £61k. The 2018/19 closing HRA General Balance is 
forecasted to be £15,946k. The use of reserves is funding investment in new housing stock. 
The table below presents key variances by service area:

Table 16: Housing Revenue Account 

113. Rental Income is forecast to under recover by £653k, an adverse movement of £71k on Month 
5 due to changes in the assumptions of when new stock will be rented.

114. Other Income is forecast to over recover by £223k, a favourable movement of £34k on Month 
5 due to increased forecast income on leasehold contributions.

115. The number of RTB applications received in the first six months of 2018/19 was 87 compared 
to 93 for the same period in 2017/18, a reduction of 6%.There have been 24 RTB completions 
in the first six months of 2018/19 compared to 34 for the same period in 2017/18, a reduction 
of 29%. The RTB sales forecast is reviewed on a monthly basis and as at Month 6; the 2018/19 
forecast remains the same as the budget at 60 RTB sales.

Expenditure

116. The Housing  management service is forecast to overspend by £161k, an adverse movement 
of £30k on Month 5 due to increased forecasts on running costs.  

Month 6 Variance (+ adv / - fav)

Revised 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

Variance 
(As at 

Month 6)

Variance 
(As at 

Month 5)

Movement 
from 

Month 5

Service

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Rent Income (55,932) (55,279) 653 582 71

Other Income (4,877) (5,100) (223) (189) (34)

Net Income (60,809) (60,379) 430 393 37
Housing Management 12,819 12,980 161 131 30

Tenant Services 4,172 4,102 (70) (62) (8)

Repairs 5,056 5,255 199 69 130

Planned Maintenance 4,360 3,995 (365) (365) 0

Capital Programme Funding 38,728 38,728 0 0 0
Interest & Investment Income 15,371 15,371 0 0 0
Development & Risk Contingency 1,740 1,110 (630) (380) (250)
Operating Costs 82,246 81,541 (705) (607) (98)
      

(Surplus) / Deficit 21,437 21,162 (275) (214) (61)
General Balance 01/04/2018 (37,108) (37,108) 0 0 0
General Balance 31/03/2019 (15,671) (15,946) (275) (214) (61)

Page 62



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

117. Tenant services is forecast to underspend by £70k, a favourable movement of £8k on Month 5 
due to a reduction in agency forecasts. 

118. The repairs budget is forecast to overspend by £199k, an adverse movement of £130k on 
Month 5 due to an increase in the voids expenditure £106k and staffing costs £24k. The 
planned maintenance budget is forecast to underspend by £365k, nil movement from Month 5. 

119. The forecasts for the capital programme funding and interest and investment remain 
unchanged from Month 5. 

120. The development and risk contingency budget is forecast to underspend by £630k, a 
favourable movement of £250k on Month 5 due to reduced forecast expenditure on the Housing 
Zone project.

HRA Capital Expenditure 

121. The HRA capital programme is set out in the table below. The 2018/19 revised budget is 
£83,791k and there is a forecast net variance of £18,161k,  £20,291k due to re-phasing and a 
cost overspend of £2,130k. There is no change compared to Month 5.

Table 17:  HRA Capital Expenditure
2018/19

Project 
Re-

Phasing
 

Programme 2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

2018/19
Forecast

2018/19 
Cost 

Variance 
Forecast 

V 
Revised 
Budget  

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2018-23

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2018-23

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2018-23

Movement 
2018-23

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Major Projects         

New General Needs Housing Stock  24,147 16,575 0 (7,572) 138,133 138,133 0 0

New Build - Appropriation of Land 8,635 10,765 2,130 0 8,635 10,765 2,130 0

New Build - Shared Ownership 6,382 1,168 0 (5,214) 15,596 15,596 0 0

New Build - Supported Housing 
Provision 12,884 9,387 0 (3,497) 15,343 15,343 0 0

HRA General Capital Contingency 8,908 8,908 0 0 8,908 8,908 0 0

Total Major Projects 60,956 46,803 2,130 (16,283) 186,615 188,745 2,130 0

HRA Programmes of Work         

Works to stock programme 20,619 16,611 0 (4,008) 57,797 57,797 0 0

Major Adaptations to Property 2,135 2,135 0 0 7,160 7,160 0 0

ICT 81 81 0 0 162 162 0 0

Total HRA Programmes of Work 22,835 18,827 0 (4,008) 65,119 65,119 0 0

Total HRA Capital 83,791 65,630 2,130 (20,291) 251,734 253,864 2,130 0

Movement on Month 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Major Projects 

122. The 2018/19 Major Projects programme revised budget is £60,956k and the forecast 
expenditure is £46,803k, with a re-phasing of £16,283k, and a cost variance of £2,130k during 
the period 2018-2023. There is no change in the re-phasing compared to Month 5.

Page 63



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

New General Needs Housing Stock 

123. The 2018/19 General Needs Housing Stock revised budget is £24,147k. There is a forecast re-
phasing of £7,572k across the General Needs programme due to the construction works across 
a number of developments commencing later than initially expected. This represents no change 
on the Month 5 position.

124. To date 24 buybacks have been approved with each acquisition at different stages of 
completion. A further nine properties are pending approval, combined all the potential buybacks 
are estimated to cost up to £10,059k.

125. The planning application was approved at Planning Committee on 20 February 2018 for the 
mixed development of General Needs and Shared Ownership units at the Acol Crescent site. 
Demolition and tree removal works have been completed and the former nursery site has been 
cleared. The appointment of a main contractor has now been approved and is in the process 
of appointment. It is expected that on site works will commence in November 2018.

126. The Housing programme comprising seven units of new build properties and five extensions 
or conversions at various sites has progressed with all the extensions and conversions now 
complete. The new build at Cherry Lane is complete, Fir Tree is substantially complete and 
Hornbeam is due for completion in November 2018. 

127. Lead Consultants and architects have been appointed for the three developments at Belmore 
allotments, Maple and Poplar Day Centre and Willow Tree. The employer's agents and 
appointed architects continue to work on finalising the design of the schemes. The planning 
application for the Maple and Poplar site has been approved with the Willow Tree development 
also approved by committee subject to the S106 obligations being signed off. The planning 
approval for the Belmore site remains outstanding. Demolition works at all 3 sites will 
commence upon approval to appoint the preferred contractor. 

New Build – Appropriation of Land 

128. The revised budget of £8,635k is for New Build appropriation of land for two sites at the former 
Belmore allotments and Maple / Poplar day centre. The forecast spend includes these two sites 
and appropriations for Woodside Day Centre £1,870k and Bartram Close garages £260k. 

New Build – Shared Ownership 

129. The New Build Shared Ownership 2018/19 revised budget is £6,382k, with a forecast 
expenditure of £1,168k and a re-phasing of £5,214k, nil movement on Month 5. 

130. The new build shared ownership budget comprises schemes being delivered across five sites 
including units at both Belmore and Maple and Poplar. These will deliver 60 units in total.

131. The Woodside Day Centre redevelopment has progressed in year following approval to submit 
Planning Application for mixed-use development of a GP surgery and 20 shared ownership 
flats. Consultants are now progressing designs and preparing tender documents ready to gain 
expressions of interest. 

New Build – Supported Housing 

132. The Supported Housing Programme comprises the build of 160 mixed client group units across 
three different sites. The 2018/19 revised budget is £12,884k with a re-phasing of £3,497k due 
to a combination of the Parkview and Yiewsley schemes, with the former scheme being subject 
to liquidated damages. There is no change in the re-phasing  compared to the Month 5 position.

Page 64



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

133. The scheme at Yiewsley is a small part of a wider re-development of the whole site and is 
anticipated to create 12 units of supported housing. The project is at the preliminary stage of 
feasibility and the multi-disciplinary consultants have now been appointed. 

134. The programme at Grassy Meadow has been completed in August 2018; however, the 
development at Parkview will run beyond its target completion date with implications addressed 
in the Social Care section this report.

HRA General Contingency 

135. The HRA General Capital Contingency revised budget is £8,908k and the forecast is break 
even. The contingency budget is included within the HRA capital programme to ensure the 
Council retains sufficient flexibility to secure additional housing units where opportunities 
become available.

HRA Programmes of Work 

136. The Works to Stock re-phasing variance is £4,008k, nil movement on the Month 5 position.   

137. The revised major adaptations budget is £2,135k and this is forecast to be fully spent.

138. The HRA ICT budget is £81k and the forecast is break even.

HRA Capital Receipts 

139. There have been 24 Right to Buy sales of council dwellings as at the end of August 2018 for a 
total gross sales value of £5,180k and a further 36 sales are forecast to bring the yearly total 
to 60, totalling £10,992k in 2018/19.

140. The application of retained Right to Buy receipts is limited by the retention agreement to a 
maximum 30% of the cost of replacement housing. In the event that expenditure does not meet 
the criteria, funds would be payable to the MHCLG. 

141. During 2018/19, the £10,642k receipts generated in 2015/16 could potentially become 
repayable unless the following expenditure profile is achieved Q1 £10,229k, Q2 £7,170k, Q3 
£7,435k and Q4 £10,641k. Cumulative expenditure on 1 for 1 replacement from previous 
quarters above the minimum requirement can be carried forward.

142. The cumulative spend requirement for 2018/19 Q1 was not met as reported in the Cabinet 
report for Month 4 and the Q2 cumulative spend requirement has been met. 

Page 65



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Appendix D - GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

143. As at Month 6 an under spend of £39,718k is reported on the £126,047k General Fund Capital 
Programme for 2018/19 due mainly to re-phasing of project expenditure.  The forecast outturn 
variance over the life of the 2018/19 to 2022/23 programme is an under spend of £65k.

144. General Fund Capital Receipts of £18,523k are forecast for 2018/19; with a shortfall of £848k 
in total forecast receipts to 2022/23.   

145. Overall, Prudential Borrowing required to support the 2018/19 to 2022/23 capital programmes 
is forecast to be over budget by £556k.  This is mainly due to a combined shortfall of £1,848k 
in forecast capital receipts and Community Infrastructure Levy receipts, partly offset by 
favourable increases in grants and contributions of £1,227k and cost under spends of £65k.  

Capital Programme Overview 

146. Table 19 below sets out the latest forecast outturn on General Fund capital projects, with 
project level detail contained in annexes A - D to this report.  Forecasts for future years include 
capital projects and programmes of work approved by Cabinet and Council in February 2018.

Table 18– General Fund Capital Programme Summary

Total Project 
Budget

 2018-2023 
Total Project 

Forecast
 2018-2023 

Total Project  
Variance

2018-2023
Movement from  

Month 5

£'000 £'000 £'000 £’000

Schools Programme  72,316  72,226 (90)  - 

Self Financing Developments  79,544  79,544  - 

Main Programme  123,332  123,332  - 

Programme of Works  110,360  110,385  25  125 

General Contingency  7,039  7,039  - 

Total Capital Programme  392,591  392,526 (65)  125 

Movement  478  603  125 

147. The revised five year programme budget has increased by £478k due partly to £229k further 
contributions to the Schools’ devolved programme and an allocation of £249k Section 106 
funding for towpath improvements to the Grand Union Canal.   

148. The Schools programme reports a cost saving of £90k on project contingency and highways 
works for the replacement of Northwood Academy.  The expansions at Warrender and Hillside 
Primary schools are at various stages of progress and are expected to be complete in the first 
half of 2019.  The all weather sports pitch at Vyners Secondary School has been completed 
and works are in progress for the main expansion, which is expected to be finished towards 
the end of next year.  Tenders are under evaluation for the expansion at Ruislip High with a 
contractor to be appointed shortly.  Works on site are expected to commence early next year, 
with completion anticipated in April 2020.  

Page 66



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

149. Projects to increase provision for young persons and pupils with Special Educational Needs 
are planned to be delivered at four sites in 2018/19 and ten schools and colleges overall over 
three years.  

150.  The Self-Financing development programme includes two major mixed residential 
developments at the former Belmore Allotments and Yiewsley pool sites.  The Yiewsley sites 
redevelopment includes the re-provision of the library and discounted market sale housing.  
Options are being developed on all sites, including the re-provision of the swimming pool 
budgeted within the Main Programme.  Design work is in progress for the housing development 
at Belmore Allotments with a planning application to be submitted.  The budget also includes 
£50,000k to finance the newly incorporated housing company Hillingdon First.

151. The Main programme includes major schemes such as the re-provision of Hillingdon Outdoor 
Activity Centre (HOAC), for which a planning application for a temporary building has recently 
been submitted.  Permanent arrangements are to be in place in 2020/21.  Public realm works 
are in progress on several town centre improvements continuing into next year. 

152. Programmes of Works reports an increase of £162k on Social Care equipment capitalisation, 
which comprises an additional £322k for community equipment partially offset by a forecast 
under spend of £160k on telecare equipment.  This will be financed by available Disabled 
Facilities Grant and does not impact on Council resources.  There is further under spend of 
£25k on the private sector renewal grants budget which is not expected to be fully committed 
this year.  The School Conditions Programme also reports a small under spend of £12k on a 
completed scheme.  The CCTV programme has been accelerated with installations of new and 
upgraded cameras at various locations throughout the borough being carried out this year.  

153. The 2018/19 unallocated general contingency budget remains at £1,039k.  In total there are 
£7,039k contingency funds available over the period 2018-23.

Capital Financing - General Fund

154. Table 19 below outlines the latest financing projections for the capital programme, with an 
adverse medium term variance of £556k reported on Prudential Borrowing, due mainly to a 
forecast shortfall in other Council resources.

Page 67



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

Table 19 General Fund Capital Programme Financing Summary 

Revised 
Budget 
2018/19

£'000

Forecast 
2018/19

£'000
Variance

£'000

Total 
Financing 

Budget 
2018-2023

£'000

Total 
Financing 
Forecast 

2018-2023
£'000

Total  
Variance

£'000
Movemen

t

Council 
Resource 
Requirement

 98,370  61,227 (37,143)  277,198  275,906 (1,292) (752) 

Financed By Prudential Borrowing

Service 
Developmen
t 

 45,517  23,954 (21,563)  100,410  100,966  556 (252) 

Self 
Financing  26,860  15,250 (11,610)  78,215  78,215  - -

Total 
Borrowing  72,377  39,204 (33,173)  178,625  179,181  556 (252) 

Financed By Other Council Resources

Capital 
Receipts  21,493  18,523 (2,970)  72,073  71,225 (848)  - 

CIL  4,500  3,500 (1,000)  26,500  25,500 (1,000) (500) 

 Total 
Council 
Resources

 98,370  61,227 (37,143)  277,198  275,906 (1,292) (752) 

Grants & 
Contribution
s

 27,677  25,102 (2,575)  115,393  116,620  1,227  877 

Capital 
Programme  126,047  86,329 (39,718)  392,591  392,526 (65)  125 

Movement  478 (4,209) (4,687)  478  603  125 

155. Total approved prudential borrowing is £178,625k over the five year programme of which 
£78,215k is in respect of self financing developments that will generate future income including 
capital receipts from discounted market sale.  There is also £100,410k approved borrowing for 
the development of services, which remains the principal driver of the £8,133k uplift in capital 
financing charges borne by revenue over the MTFF period.  

156. In 2018/19 forecast capital receipts amount to £18,523k after financing transformation costs 
and as at the end of September an amount of £606k has been received with another sale 
expected to complete in October and other sites planned to go to auction early next year.  A 
major site has been approved to be sold to Hillingdon First at the market valuation of £3,500k 
and this is included in the forecast.  Forecast receipts in 2018/19 also includes £10,765k for 
planned appropriations of four General Fund sites to the HRA for residential development and 
£1,895k General Fund share of Right to Buy (RTB) sales based on a forecast 60 RTB sales in 
2018/19.  

157. As at the end of September a total of £1,026k Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts 
(after administration fees) have been invoiced or received this financial year, a nil movement 
from last month.  The forecast has been reduced by a further £500k due to uncertainty around 
the level of receipts that will be received this financial year.  Budgeted eligible activity exceeds 
the CIL forecast with spend on Highways investment, community assets through the Chrysalis 
Programme and other major community infrastructure such as schools meeting the criteria for 
application of CIL monies.

Page 68



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

158. The reduction in CIL has been mitigated by additional Section 106 contributions identified 
towards existing schemes totalling £715k, including the Schools Expansions Programme, 
CCTV and Town Centres programmes.  The other movement in the Grants and Contributions 
forecast relates to the allocation of available Disabled Facilities Grant of £162k towards 
increased Social Care equipment capitalisation.  The financing budget assumes £13,350k 
Basic Needs grant for the period 2020/21-2022/23.  It is expected that any grant awards below 
this level would be offset by expenditure reductions as the grant is based on forecast school 
places demand.

159. An adverse variance of £556k is reported on prudential borrowing due mainly to the forecast 
shortfalls in other Council sources of funding (capital receipts and CIL), partially offset by 
increases in grants and contributions and minor cost under spends.    

Page 69



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

ANNEX A - Schools Programme

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

 

2018/19 
Forecast

 

2018/19 
Cost 

Variance
 

Forecast 
Re-

phasing
 

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2018-
2023

 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2018-
2023

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2018-
2023

 

Council 
Resources

Government 
Grants

Other 
Cont'ns

£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
 Education and Children Services     
137,138 Primary Schools Expansions 93 93 0 0 93 93 0 93 0 0 

4,352 New Primary Schools Expansions 8,880 8,583 0 (297) 10,974 10,974 0 9,774 1,200 0 
1,040 Secondary Schools Expansions 19,828 7,276 0 (12,552) 54,960 54,960 0 21,306 33,225 429 

45,568 Secondary Schools New Build 399 309 (90) 0 399 309 (90) 309 0 0 
0 Meadow School 250 250 0 0 250 250 0 250 0 0 
0 Additional Temporary Classrooms 2,400 0 0 (2,400) 4,000 4,000 0 4,000 0 0 
0 Schools SRP 0 768 0 768 1,640 1,640 0 0 1,640 0 

188,098 Total Schools Programme 31,850 17,279 (90) (14,481) 72,316 72,226 (90) 35,732 36,065 429 P
age 70



Cabinet report: 15 November 2018
Classification: Part 1 – Public

ANNEX B - Self Financing Developments 

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

 

2018/19 
Forecast

 

2018/19 
Cost 

Variance
 

2018/19 
Forecast 

Re-
phasing

 

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2018-
2023

 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2018-
2023

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2018-
2023

 

Council 
Resources

Government 
Grants

Other 
Cont'ns

£'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 
Self Financing 
Developments          

 
Finance, Property and Business 
Services          

14 Yiewsley Site Development 1,860 250 0 (1,610) 23,000 23,000 0 23,000 0 0 
0 Belmore Allotments Development 0 0 0 0 4,605 4,605 0 3,276 0 1,329 
0 Housing Company Financing 25,000 15,000 0 (10,000) 50,000 50,000 0 50,000 0 0 

Social Services, Housing, Health 
and Wellbeing

0 Woodside GP Surgery 0 0 0 0 1,939 1,939 0 1,939 0 0 

14 Total Self Financing 
Developments 26,860 15,250 0 (11,610) 79,544 79,544 0 78,215 0 1,329 

P
age 71



ANNEX C - Main Programme

Project Forecast Financed by:
  Prior 

Year 
Cost

 

Project
 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget 
£'000

 

2018/19 
Forecast 

£'000
 

2018/19 
Cost 

Variance 
£'000

 

2018/19 
Forecast 

Re-
phasing 

£'000
 

Total 
Project 
Budget  
2018-23 

£000
 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2018-23 

£000

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2018-23 

£000
 

Council 
Resources 

£000

Gov’t 
Grants 
£000

Other 
Cont'ns 

£000

 Community, Commerce and Regeneration 
2,200 Gateway Hillingdon 950 950 0 0 950 950 0 950 0 0 
6,274 Hayes Town Centre Improvements 2,687 1,687 0 (1,000) 2,962 2,962 0 306 1,300 1,356 

448 Inspiring Shopfronts 247 147 0 (100) 447 447 0 447 0 0 
25 Uxbridge Cemetery Gatehouse 549 50 0 (499) 549 549 0 549 0 0 

951 Uxbridge Change of Heart 1,045 534 0 (511) 1,045 1,045 0 807 0 238 
 Central Services, Culture and Heritage

0 New Museum 525 25 0 (500) 5,632 5,632 0 4,882 0 750 
0 New Theatre 300 25 0 (275) 44,000 44,000 0 42,950 0 1,050 
 Finance, Property and Business Services

6,438 Battle of Britain Heritage Pride 
Project 342 342 0 0 342 342 0 342 0 0 

36 Battle of Britain Underground 
Bunker 824 618 0 (206) 1,018 1,018 0 1,018 0 0 

97 Bessingby Football/Boxing 
Clubhouse 1,497 1,247 0 (250) 1,497 1,497 0 1,497 0 0 

0 Uniter Building Refurbishment 400 25 0 (375) 400 400 0 400 0 0 

0 Purchase of Uxbridge Police 
Station 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000 5,000 0 5,000 0 0 

0 Botwell Leisure Centre Football 
Pitch 0 0 0 0 200 200 0 200 0 0 

0 Yiewsley Swimming Pool 2,000 250 0 (1,750) 30,000 30,000 0 30,000 0 0 
12 Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre 6,988 5,043 0 (1,945) 26,488 26,488 0 0 0 26,488 

 Planning, Transportation and Recycling
0 RAGC Car Park 250 50 0 (200) 250 250 0 250 0 0 

4,017 Street Lighting - Invest to Save 1,483 1,483 0 0 1,483 1,483 0 1,483 0 0 
 Social Services, Housing, Health and Wellbeing

0 1 & 2 Merrimans Housing Project 620 50 0 (570) 620 620 0 620 0 0 
 Cross Cabinet Member Portfolios     

4,356 Projects Completing in 2018/19 449 449 0 0 449 449 0 444 0 5 
24,854 Total Main Programme 26,156 17,975 0 (8,181) 123,332 123,332 0 92,145 1,300 29,887 

P
age 72



ANNEX D – Programme of Works 

Project Forecast Financed by:
 Prior Year 

Cost
 

Project
 

2018/19 
Revised 
Budget

 

2018/19 
Forecast

 

2018/19 
Cost 

Variance
 

Forecast 
Re-

phasing
 

Total 
Project 
Budget  

2018-2023
 

Total 
Project 

Forecast 
2018-2023

Total 
Project 

Variance 
2018-2023

 
Council 

Resources
Govt

Grants
Other 

Cont'ns

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
N/A Leaders Initiative 393 323 0 (70) 1,193 1,193 0 1,193 0 0 

Community, Commerce and Regeneration 
N/A Chrysalis Programme 1,331 1,331 0 0 5,331 5,331 0 5,316 0 15 
N/A Playground Replacement Programme 250 200 0 (50) 750 750 0 750 0 0 

Central Services, Culture and Heritage
N/A Bowls Clubs Refurbishments 651 433 0 (218) 1,151 1,151 0 1,151 0 0 
N/A Libraries Refurbishment Programme 1,000 500 0 (500) 3,000 3,000 0 3,000 0 0 
N/A Leisure Centre Refurbishment 1,601 250 0 (1,351) 3,101 3,101 0 3,101 0 0 

Education and Children Services
N/A Devolved Capital to Schools 1,208 1,208 0 0 2,240 2,240 0 0 1,846 394 
N/A School Building Condition Works 3,059 1,922 (12) (1,125) 9,859 9,847 (12) 1,655 7,140 1,052 

Finance, Property and Business Services 
N/A Civic Centre Works Programme 1,564 1,364 0 (200) 3,564 3,564 0 3,564 0 0 
N/A Corporate Technology and Innovation 1,104 824 0 (280) 3,596 3,596 0 3,596 0 0 
N/A Property Works Programme 680 680 0 0 2,600 2,600 0 2,600 0 0 
N/A CCTV Programme 708 1,393 0 685 1,758 1,758 0 1,677 0 81 
N/A Youth Provision 1,409 1,000 0 (409) 2,409 2,409 0 2,409 0 0 

Planning, Transportation and Recycling 
N/A Highways Structural Works 8,265 8,265 0 0 17,265 17,265 0 17,265 0 0 
N/A Road Safety 202 202 0 0 802 802 0 802 0 0 

N/A Transport for London 7,087 6,237 0 (850) 19,979 19,979 0 0 19,223 756 
N/A Purchase of Vehicles 3,911 3,411 0 (500) 10,551 10,551 0 10,551 0 0 
N/A Harlington Road Depot Improvements 315 315 0 0 315 315 0 315 0 0 

Social Services, Housing, Health and Wellbeing 
N/A Disabled Facilities Grant 2,300 2,300 0 0 11,500 11,500 0 0 11,500 0 
N/A PSRG / LPRG 225 100 (125) 0 1,125 1,000 (125) 1,000 0 0 

Cross Cabinet Member Portfolios     
N/A Environmental/Recreational Initiatives 887 687 0 (200) 887 887 0 887 0 0 
N/A Section 106 Projects 516 203 0 (313) 516 516 0 0 0 516 
N/A Equipment Capitalisation - Social Care 985 1,147 162 0 4,925 5,087 162 0 5,087 0 
N/A Equipment Capitalisation - General 491 491 0 0 1,943 1,943 0 1,943 0 0 

 Total Programme of Works 40,142 34,786 25 (5,381) 110,360 110,385 25 62,775 44,796 2,814 

P
age 73



Appendix E – Treasury Management Report as at 30 September 2018

Outstanding Deposits

 Actual (£m) Actual (%) Benchmark (%)
Up to 1 Month 35.6 48.70 65.00
1-2 Months 19.5 26.68 15.00
2-3 Months 0.0 0.00 0.00
3-6 Months 3.0 4.10 5.00
6-9 Months 0.0 0.00 0.00
9-12 Months 0.0         0.00 0.00
Total 58.1 79.48 85.00
Strategic Funds 15.0 20.52 15.00
Total 73.1 100.00 100.00

160. Deposits are held with UK institutions or overseas institutions all of which hold a minimum A 
Fitch (or lowest equivalent) long-term credit rating. UK deposits are spread between AAA rated 
Money Market Funds, an AAA rated Pooled Fund, Goldman Sachs International Bank, Lloyds 
Bank plc, UK Government Treasury Bills, London Borough of Hackney and Northumberland CC.  
Overseas deposits are held with DBS (Development Bank of Singapore) and Svenska 
Handelsbanken. There is also an allocation to Strategic Pooled Funds.

161. The average rate of return on day-to-day operational treasury balances is 0.54%. As part of the 
Council’s investment strategy for 18/19 a total of £15m has been invested in three strategic 
pooled funds (£5m in each). The strategic pooled funds have a 3-5 year investment horizon with 
dividends being distributed periodically.

162. The Council aims to minimise its exposure to bail-in risk by utilising bail-in exempt instruments 
and institutions whenever possible. However, due to the significant amount held in instant 
access facilities needed to manage daily cashflows, it is not possible to fully protect Council 
funds from bail-in risk. At the end of September, 65% of the Council's total funds have exposure 
to bail-in risk compared to a September benchmark average of 60% in the Local Authority sector 
(latest benchmark provided quarterly by the Council's treasury advisors Arlingclose). The 
Council's exposure reduces to 14% once instant access facilities are removed from the bail-in 
total. 

163. Liquidity was maintained throughout September by placing surplus funds in instant access 
accounts and making short-term deposits with the DMADF and London Borough of Hackney. 
Deposit maturities were scheduled to match cash outflows and where required, funds were 
withdrawn from instant access facilities. During the month, there were maturities with the 
DMADF, Cheltenham BC and Cornwall Council. 

Outstanding Debt - Average Interest Rate on Debt: 3.41%

Actual (£m) Actual (%)
General Fund
PWLB 44.66 18.12
Long-Term Market 15.00 6.08
HRA 
PWLB 153.82 62.41
Long-Term Market 33.00 13.39
Total 246.48 100.00

Page 74



164. There were three scheduled EIP debt repayments during September, two of which were for 
£0.75m and the other for £1m. Gilts yields increased over the course of the month; however, 
premiums remained too high to make early repayment of debt feasible; however, with the 
potential need to borrow later in the year, repayment of any debt is unlikely.

165. There are no breaches of the Prudential Indicators or non-compliance with the Treasury 
Management Policy and Practices.

166. In order to maintain maintain liquidity for day-to-day business operations during October, cash 
balances will be mainly be placed in instant access accounts and short-term deposits. 
Opportunities to place a portion of funds longer term will be monitored in the hope to achieve a 
higher average rate of return. 

Page 75



Appendix F – Consultancy and agency assignments over £50k approved under delegated 
authority

167. The following Agency staff costing over £50k have been approved under delegated powers           
by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and are reported here for information.

Table 22: Consultancy and agency assignments

Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000
Residents Services

Project Manager 24/04/2018 09/10/2018 31/12/2018 49 23 72
Private Sector Housing 
Team Manager 01/02/2018 29/10/2018 31/12/2018 66 23 88
Private Sector Housing 
Officer 18/06/2018 19/11/2018 31/12/2018 71 11 82
Development Surveyor 06/11/2017 05/11/2018 03/02/2019 108 27 136
Interim Head of Waste 
Services (& Project 
Manager – Infrastructure, 
Procurement, Waste 
Services & ICT) 06/07/2018 18/10/2018 30/11/2018 44 17 61
Major Application (PPA) 
Planner 20/03/2017 15/10/2018 18/01/2019 157 25 182
Technician/Engineer 03/07/2018 25/09/2018 25/12/2018 51 12 63

Chief Executives Office
Senior Lawyer ASC ECS 23/04/2018 22/10/2018 14/04/2019 37 41 78
Senior Lawyer ASC ECS 14/05/2018 22/11/2018 12/05/2019 27 47 84

Finance
Benefits Officer 02/08/2017 08/10/2018 06/01/2019 50 12 62
Benefits Officer 03/08/2015 29/10/2018 27/01/2019 174 15 189
Benefits Officer 03/08/2015 29/10/2018 27/01/2019 166 14 180

Social Care
Approved Mental Health 
Worker 29/05/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 181 8 189
Approved Mental Health 
Worker 01/06/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 233 6 239
Care Worker 06/07/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 67 3 69
Occupational Therapist 07/10/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 329 7 336
Occupational Therapist 03/12/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 199 7 206
Occupational Therapist 06/06/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 172 7 179
Residential Care Worker 01/04/2012 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 180 3 183
Senior Social Worker 03/10/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 136 6 143
Social Worker 26/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 91 7 98
Social Worker 05/06/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 85 6 91
Social Worker 16/04/2018 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 44 7 52
Social Worker (CHC) 03/01/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 85 5 90
Social Worker/Senior 
Social Worker 02/10/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 74 6 80
Social Worker/Senior 
Social Worker 04/09/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 82 7 89
Support Worker 03/04/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 58 4 61
Support Worker 03/10/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 49 2 51

Page 76



Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000
Support Worker 04/04/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 73 3 76
Programme Lead-Urgent 
& Emergency Care 01/03/2018 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 100 15 115
Registered Care Manager 03/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 66 5 71
Service Manager for 
OPSPD 02/04/2018 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 76 13 89
Senior Social Worker 01/04/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 114 8 122
Social Worker 01/04/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 171 8 178
Social Worker 02/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 66 6 72
Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor 12/01/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 125 5 130
Child Protection Chair 01/07/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 197 9 206
Team Manager 17/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 128 10 138
Social Worker 06/04/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 106 8 114
Social Worker 23/10/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 74 6 80
Social Worker 16/12/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 141 8 149
Social Worker 10/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 75 8 83
Social Worker 07/11/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 153 8 161
Social Worker 04/05/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 217 7 224
Social Worker 13/04/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 249 8 256
Senior Social Worker 30/04/2012 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 318 8 326
Social Worker 11/07/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 161 8 169
Team Manager 27/03/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 133 9 142
Social Worker 27/10/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 136 8 144
Early Years Practitioner 12/09/2014 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 53 1 55
SENDIASS Manager 02/05/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 55 9 64
Early Years Practitioner 24/02/2014 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 67 1 68
Educational Psychologist 16/10/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 65 5 70
Educational Psychologist 15/11/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 213 10 222
Special Needs Officer 01/12/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 107 7 114
Senior Social Worker 21/11/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 123 8 132
Social Worker 01/01/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 354 8 362
Social Worker 01/04/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 148 8 155
Social Worker 04/07/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 191 8 199
Social Worker 03/07/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 177 9 186
Senior Social Worker 19/12/2011 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 408 9 417
Social Worker 21/11/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 127 8 135
Social Worker 01/01/2013 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 352 8 360
Senior Social Worker 29/06/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 115 8 123
Social Worker 14/08/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 97 7 103
Early Years Practitioner 25/03/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 48 3 51
Special Needs Officer 05/01/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 172 10 182
Social Worker 26/08/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 130 7 137
Supervising Social 
Worker 01/09/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 88 7 95
Support Worker 20/12/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 79 3 82
Social Worker 28/03/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 165 6 172
Social Worker 13/11/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 144 8 151

Page 77



Post Title Original 
Start Date

Approved 
From

Proposed 
End Date

Previous 
Approval 

£'000

Approved 

£'000

Total 

£'000
Early Years Practitioner 23/02/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 77 3 80
Education Health and 
Care Officer 01/07/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 52 6 58
Educational Psychologist 15/08/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 138 9 147
Educational Psychologist 24/01/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 63 3 66
Educational Psychologist 01/03/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 271 15 286
Social Worker 21/08/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 152 8 159
Social Worker 05/09/2014 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 320 8 328
Social Worker 01/08/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 189 9 198
Social Worker 04/05/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 241 8 249
Education Health and 
Care Officer 11/09/2017 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 47 6 53
Social Worker 11/08/2014 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 333 8 340
Social Worker 07/11/2016 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 136 7 143
SEND Manager TBC 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 55 9 64
Case Progression 
Manager 07/04/2014 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 420 10 430
Senior Social Worker 05/10/2015 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 168 9 177
Principal Education 
Psychologist TBC 29/10/2018 02/12/2018 194 14 208

Page 78



Appendix G – Unattended Cremations at Breakspear Crematorium

Recommendation 7:

That Cabinet approves the introduction of offering unattended cremations at Breakspear 
Crematorium at a cost of £315, for implementation on the 1st December 2018.

Reason for Recommendation

Cabinet is requested to approve the introduction of unattended cremations at Breakspear 
Crematorium at a cost of £315 from the 1st December 2018 under Recommendation 7.  This is a 
service enhancement in respond to demand for the service and it is in line with the provision at 
neighbouring crematoria.

Additional information

168. Unattended cremations (also known as direct cremations) are funerals without any formal 
service, unlike traditional funerals that include mourners, a service and music before the 
committal.

169. Hillingdon’s six closest neighbouring crematoriums all offer unattended cremations to their 
residents at a lower cost compared to the full cremation funeral, with the exception of Slough 
Crematorium who do not offer any cost reduction. The table below shows the fees levied for full 
cremations and unattended cremations at each of these sites:

Table 23: Unattended Cremations
Crematorium Full Cremation Fee 2018 Unattended Cremation Fee 

2018
Chilterns £620 £371
West Herts £690 £395
Hillingdon £649 n/a
Slough £770 £770
Golders Green £690 £310
West London £515 £295
Hendon £740 £375

170. It is proposed that Hillingdon offer this service for £315 per cremation, which is in line with 90% 
of the average cost of the service at neighbouring sites, who offer a reduction in the cost of this 
type of cremation.

171. There are no additional operating costs associated with the introduction of unattended funerals, 
however, there is potential income growth through contractual arrangements with businesses 
and/or residents fees. The cremation service is already staffed with chapel and crematory roles 
and therefore unattended funerals would increase workload in a manageable way during off-
peak times. Additionally the cremators are already in operation during the week between 8am 
and 10pm, albeit not operating at full capacity, so there are no additional running costs in the 
event of increased workloads. 

Page 79



Appendix H – Animal Welfare Legislation

Recommendation 8:

That Cabinet note the implementation of the new legislation relating to Animal Welfare which 
came into force on the 1st October 2018 and approve the related fees to be implemented with 
immediate effect.

Reason for recommendation

172. In line with the introduction of new legislation relating to Animal welfare ((Licensing of Activities 
Involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018), Cabinet are asked at Recommendation 8 to 
note the new regulations and approve the introduction of a new fee structure to account for the 
higher level of scrutiny required to be undertaken and set according to the LGA Guidance on 
locally set fees. 

Purpose of the legislation

173. Currently, there are a number of different statutes governing various animal activities, some 
more than 90 years old. The new legislation consolidates and modernises these regulatory 
activities by introducing a single licensing system for the following:

a. Animal Boarding (catteries and dog boarding in kennels)
b. Dog Day Care
c. Horse Riding Establishments
d. Dog Breeding
e. Exhibition of Animals
f. Selling Animals as Pets

174. The licensable arrangements are supported by a suite of procedural guidance documents, 
codes of practice and licence conditions published by the Department for Environment Food & 
Rural Affairs. 

175. It is considered that a local policy is not required due to the extensive nature of the national 
DEFRA guidance. The existing Residents Services Scheme of Delegations is adequate and 
does not need to be amended. 

Impact on existing businesses

176. Existing licence holders are currently being contacted and informed about how to make 
applications under the new system. Licensing Officers are anticipating an increase in 
applications due to the introduction of Dog Day Care being covered by the new licensing regime 
whereas this was previously un-licensable. The new system should not be any more 
burdensome on businesses than the current licensing system. Existing licences are due for 
renewal on 31st December so they will apply under the new system at that time.

Page 80



Proposed Fees

177. The new legislation introduces a higher level of scrutiny for animal related businesses and will 
involve more inspections by Officers. This will be reflected in a new fee schedule (as shown in 
the table below) which will be an increase from the fees currently paid by these businesses. The 
proposed new fee schedule will be set in line with the LGA Guidance on Locally Set Fees.

Table 24: New Licence Fees
Licence - Payable on Grant

Licence Type Application 
Fee 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 

Breeding, Boarding and Pet Shops £185.00 £150.00 £225.00 £300.00
Hiring out Horses £222.50 £215.00 £295.00 £375.00
Exhibiting/Performing Animals £162.50 NA NA £110.00

178. The recommended new fee structure will replace the follow items on the current approved 
schedule of Fees and Charges:

Table 25:Existing Charging Schedule

Current Licencing Charge
Current 

Residents 
Charge

Current Non-
Residents 

Charge
New Licencing Charge

   £ £  

 Animal Boarding Establishments    
 No of animals 1 to 9 125.00 125.00

 No of animals 10 to 24 177.00 177.00

 No of animals 25 to 49 260.00 260.00

 No of animals 50 to 75 355.00 355.00

 
No of animals 75+ (New 
category) 420.00 420.00

 

Application to renew an animal 
boarding extablishment - Home 
boarders (3 dogs or less)

81.00 81.00

Delete section - replace with new 
Breeding, Boarding and Pet Shops 

 Performing Animals    
 Registration 396.00 396.00

 Registration - Non Profit 52.00 52.00

 Certificate free free

Delete section - replace with 
Exhibiting/Performing Animals

 Pet Shops    

  
Including vets fees 192.00 192.00 Delete section - replace with new 

Breeding, Boarding and Pet Shops 

 Riding Establishments    
 No of animals 1 to 5 75.00 + vet fee 75.00 + vet fee

 No of animals 6 to 20 200.00 + vet fee 200.00 + vet fee

 
No of animals 21 to 35 (Category 
restructured) 200.00 + vet fee 200.00 + vet fee

 
No of animals 36 to 50 (Category 
restructured) 200.00 + vet fee 200.00 + vet fee

  
No of animals 51+ (New 
category) 200.00 + vet fee 200.00 + vet fee

Delete section - replace with Hiring 
out Horses

 Breeding of Dogs    

  
Renewal 75.00 + vet fee 75.00 + vet fee Delete section - replace with new 

Breeding, Boarding and Pet Shops 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 7STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 8STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

Agenda Item 9STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 109

Agenda Item 10STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
PART II by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting
	5 Older People's Plan Update (Cllr Ray Puddifoot MBE & Cllr Philip Corthorne)
	Appendix - Older Peoples' Action Plan

	6 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report: Month 6 (Cllr Ray Puddifoot MBE & Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	7 Contract Extension: The Replacement of Gas Boilers and System Upgrades in Residential Dwellings in the Housing Stock (Cllr Jonathan Bianco) *
	8 Award of Contract: Playground Refurbishment Programme (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	9 Disposal of land at 19-22 Chippendale Waye, Uxbridge (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	10 Voluntary Sector Leases (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	Site Plan


